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GRANT THORNTON BALTIC UAB
Company code 300056169 | VAT code LT100001220914 | Register of Legal Entities of the Republic of Lithuania

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF PAYRAY BANK, UAB
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of PayRay Bank, UAB and its subsidiaries (hereinafter “the
Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and the
consolidated notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its
consolidated financial performance and the consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the laws on accounting and financial reporting of the Republic of Lithuania and
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Regulation
(EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on specific
requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities (Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the
European Parliament and of the Council). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code)
together with the requirements of the Law on Audit of the financial statements of the Republic of
Lithuania that are relevant to the audit in the Republic of Lithuania, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit of the financial statements of the Republic
of Lithuania and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Expected credit losses for loans

Please refer to the following sub-sections of “Summary of significant accounting policies”:
“Impairment of Financial Assets”, “Measurement of ECL”, “Significant increase in credit risk
(SICR)", “Credit risk grades”, “Generating the term structure of PD”, “Determining whether credit
risk has increased significantly”, “Definition of default”, “Incorporation of forward-looking
information”, “Restructured financial assets”, “Credit-impaired financial assets”, “Presentation of
allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position”, as well as Note 12 “Loans to customers”,
Note 13 “Factoring receivables”, and the sub-section “Credit risk” of Note 21 “Risk management” on

pages 31-35,45 and 48-53, respectively.
Grant Thornton Baltic UAB
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As at 31 December 2022, expected credit losses reported in the Group’s statement of financial position
amounted to EUR 1651 thousand (see Notes 12, 13 and 21).

The Group’s credit loss allowances for loans in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to EUR 508 thousand (Note 21).

Credit loss allowances for loans represent the management’s best estimate of the expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) within loans granted (exposures) at the date of the consolidated financial statements. We
focused on this area as the determination of loss allowances requires a significant judgment and
subjectivity over the amounts of any such impairment.

Impairment allowances for performing exposures (Stage 1 and Stage 2 in the IFRS 9 hierarchy) are
determined by modelling techniques. Historical experience, identification of exposures with a
significant deterioration in credit quality, forward-looking information and management judgment are
incorporated into the model assumptions.

For non-performing exposures (Stage 3), the impairment assessment is based on the Group’s knowledge
and understanding of each individual borrower’s circumstances. Related loss allowances are determined
on an individual basis by means of a discounted cash flows analysis.

The targeted non-routine inspection is conducted by the supervisory authority in the Group’s Bank
involving the assessment of the credit risk management practice and expected credit loss model. Due to
a significant increase in estimation uncertainty affected by the reasons stated above and the impact of
the war in Ukraine on the economy, we considered the impairment of the loans granted to be a
significant risk, therefore, we focused more attention on this area in our audit. Accordingly, we
determined this area to be a key audit matter.

How the Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures among others included the following:

- We obtained an understanding of the Group’s ECL methodology and assessed its compliance with
the relevant requirements of IFRS 9. As part of the above, we identified the relevant methods,
assumptions and sources of data, and assessed whether such methods, assumptions, data and their
application are appropriate in the context of IFRS 9 requirements. Additionally, we challenged the
management on whether the level of the methodology’s sophistication is appropriately based on our
assessment of the entity-level factors.

- We obtained an understanding of significant deficiencies in the application of an ECL model and
credit risk management included in the Bank of Lithuania’s report of the targeted non-routine
inspection.

- We made inquiries of the Group’s risk management and information technology (IT) personnel to
gain understanding of IT applications used in the loan impairment process. Also, we assessed and
tested the Group’s control environment for data security and access.

- We tested the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of selected controls over the
approval, recording and monitoring of loans, including, but not limited to, the controls relating to the
monitoring of identification of events of default, as well as appropriateness of the classification of
exposures into performing and non-performing, calculation of days past due, and the overall ECL
estimate.

- We assessed whether the definition of default and the staging criteria were applied consistently and
in accordance with the relevant international financial reporting standards as adopted by the
European Union,

- We evaluated whether in the loan staging and ECL measurement the Group appropriately considered
the impact of the war in Ukraine.
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- We critically assessed the existence of any triggers for classification to Stage 3 as at 31 December
2022, by reference to the underlying documentation (loan files) and through discussion with the
management and taking into consideration business operations of the respective customers as well as
market conditions and historical repayment pattern.

- For the exposures with triggers for classification in Stage 3, challenging key assumptions applied in
the Group’s estimates of future cash flows such as primarily collateral values (including related
haircuts) and realization period by reference to our inspection of external valuation reports, the
Group’s internal evidence and analyses and publicly available market transaction data.

- We discussed the deficiencies in accounting estimates of ECL model identified during the audit with
the representatives of the Supervision Department of the Bank of Lithuania.

- We evaluated the accuracy and completeness of the loan impairment and credit risk-related
disclosures in the financial statements by reference to the requirements of applicable financial
reporting standards.

First-year audit

We have been chosen to carry out the audit of the Group’s financial statements for the first time. Initial
audit engagements involve a number of considerations not associated with recurring audits. Additional
planning activities and considerations necessary to establish an appropriate audit strategy and audit plan
include, among others:

- Gaining an initial understanding of the Group, its business plan and financial accounting, including
its control environment and information systems sufficient to make audit risk assessments and
develop the audit strategy and plan;

- Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the opening balances including the
selection and application of accounting principles; and

- Communicating with the previous auditors.
How the Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

After being appointed as the Group’s auditors in 2022, we developed an appropriate audit strategy and
audit plan for this initial audit engagement. Our procedures included, in particular:

- Obtaining initial understanding of the Group and its business, including its business plan, business
risks, IT systems used, internal control environment, internal controls and financial reporting
framework, to assists in performing risk assessment procedures at the Group’s management assertion
and financial statements level;

- Obtaining audit evidence regarding opening balances and the appropriateness of selection and
application of key accounting policies;

- Close interaction with the previous auditors regarding key audit and accounting matters, as well as
the audit procedures performed by them in key financial statements areas in previous periods;

- Discussion with the Group’s management, responsible employees and the Audit Committee, to
understand their perspectives on the business, identified key risks and other areas of audit
importance.

Other Matters — Amendments to the Auditor’s Report

After the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
prepared and signed by the management on 27 April 2023, the Board requested amendments to the
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consolidated annual report and the consolidated notes to the financial statements. At the request of the
Board, the management made amendments to the consolidated annual report, such as in Section 1 “State
of the Group and overview of activities”, Section 10 “Significant Events after the Reporting Period”, as
well as in subsection “Significant Events after the Reporting Period” of Note 24, and, on 28 April 2023,
reissued the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022. We
performed additional audit procedures for amendments made, and this auditor’s report replaces our
previously issued auditor’s report dated 27 April 2023.

Other matters — targeted non-routine inspection by the Bank of Lithuania

The Bank of Lithuania conducts the targeted non-routine inspection of the Group’s Bank, however, no
decision on the imposition of the sanction was taken as at the reporting date. There is uncertainty as to
the potential impact of the sanction on the Bank’s performance.

Other matters — decision of the Bank of Lithuania to impose enforcement measure

On 13 September 2022, the Bank of Lithuanian temporarily suspended the voting rights of a direct
shareholder 2404 S.A. in the General Meeting of Shareholders of PayRay Bank, UAB.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Group’s Annual Report for 2022, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is
responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, except as specified below.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

In addition, our responsibility is to consider whether information included in the Group’s annual report
for the financial year for which the consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements and whether the Group’s annual report has been prepared in
compliance with applicable legal requirements. In our opinion, based on the work performed in the
course of the audit of the consolidated financial statements, in all material respects:

* The information given in the Group’s annual report for the financial year for which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

* The Group’s annual report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Law on
Consolidated Financial Reporting by Group Undertakings of the Republic of Lithuania.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with the laws on accounting and financial reporting of the Republic of
Lithuania, and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
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using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s consolidated financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or taken together, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Other requirements of the auditor's report in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the
European Parliament and of the Council.

We were appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 30 June 2022 to audit the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. Our appointment to
carry out the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with the decision
made by the General Meeting of Shareholders is renewed every two years and the period of total
uninterrupted engagement is one year.

We confirm that our opinion in the section “Opinion” is consistent with the additional report on
consolidated financial statements which we have submitted to the Group and the Audit Committee.

We confirm that in light of our knowledge and belief, services provided to the Group are consistent with
the requirements of the law and regulations and do not comprise prohibited non-audit services referred
to in Article 5(1) of the Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council.

Throughout our audit engagement period, we have provided non-audit services, comprising translation
of financial statements.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Darius Gliaubicas.

Grant Thornton Baltic UAB
Audit company’s licence No 001513
Upés st. 21-1, Vilnius

Lithuanian Certified Auditor
Darius Gliaubicas

License No 000594
28 April 2023
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PayRay Bank, UAB
Bank code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania

Annual Report for the year
ended 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

This consolidated annual management report has been prepared for 2022. The annual
management report presents the information of PayRay Bank, UAB (‘the Bank®) and its
subsidiaries PayRay SIA and PayRay Estonia OU (jointly referred to as “the Group”).

1. State of the Group and overview of activities

In 2019, the Bank received a banking licence from the Bank of Lithuania and on 15 October 2020
it successfully became a bank; 100% of its share capital and voting rights belong to 2404 S.A.
The Bank is supervised and regulated by the Bank of Lithuania and European Central Bank. The
headquarters of the Bank are located in Vilnius, Lithuania.

In 2020, acceptance of deposits and other repayable funds from non-professional market
participants was initiated. The Group provides financing to legal entities and natural persons for
business purposes.

The Bank made the following investments in subsidiaries: in September 2020, established a
subsidiary PayRay SIA in Latvia, and 2021 a subsidiary PayRay Estonia OU in Estonia. The
subsidiary in Estonia does not carry out activities.

The Group has no physical service locations, except for the central headquarters in Vilnius (and
headquarters for the subsidiary in Riga). The Bank collects deposits from non-professional market
participants via the Raisin platform, while deposit services to legal entities are provided via direct
or remote meetings. The Group provides financing to legal entities and natural persons for
business purposes via direct or remote meetings.

The Bank does not hold and did not acquire its own shares in 2022. Subsidiaries did not acquire
the Bank's shares either. The Bank and its subsidiaries have neither acquired nor disposed own
shares during the reporting period.

On 25th March 2022, the Bank completed the acquisition of part of Optima Information
Technology Srl business. The software development business was purchased as “transfer of
going concern” and under the framework of “business combination under common control” as
both parties had the same sole shareholder. Optima Information Technology Srl is a financial
software development company based in Pistoia, Italy, which since 2018 has developed and
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Bank code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania

Annual Report for the year

ended 31 December 2022

provided: product ‘software. solutions to the Bank. Thus the acquired business. became a
fundamental asset for the Group which will play a strategic role in digitalization and improvement
of the Bank's processes by praviding access to tailor-made scalable software and.an in-house
software develgpment team, The acquired business includes confracts with 13 specialized
employees. The consideration agreed upon for the acquired business was EUR 1. IFRS 3.
Business Combinations does not provide forany method for business combination under commor
control, and therefore such acquisition was-accounted for af carrying amount, with the differerice:
being recorded in the balance sheet in equity as a profit {loss) not recognized in statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income in accordance with gerierally accepted practice
for business: combinations under commoen control.

On 13.September 2022, the Board of the Bank of Lithuania adopted a decision in which a sole
shareholder of the Bank 2404.8.A. voting rights have been temporarily suspended.

In the 4th -quarter of 2022, the Group started collaboration with external consultants in shaping
the Group’s Envirénmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") policies. Moreover, the new position
of an ESG risk manager was created along with the implementation plan which covers argas of
ESG. risk management, ESG inclusion in the Group’s strategy, setting the ESG goals and
performance indicators.

The Group does not in any case allow, promote, facilitate nar tolerate ‘the practices. related to
bribery; -corruption, embezzlement and such practices are against the values and risk culture of
the Group. It is prohibited for employees to give, accept or facilitate the bribes and corruptive
practices. In order to ensure appropriate behaviour from employees and to prevent. corrupfion,
bribery or any other inappropriate/impraper behaviour, the Bank and its subsidiaries-has approved
Code of Conduct and Ethics, as well as Anti-Bribery, Anti-corruption, Gifts and Invitations
Procedure, additionally training sessions for employees in this field are conducted at least on
-once a year.

As of 31st December 2022, the Bank’s equity amounted to EUR 29,970,307, and the Groups to
EUR 29,970,300 (as at:31 December 2021, EUR 34,268,670 and EUR 383,773,756, respectively),
the Bank's assets amounited to EUR 279,030,623, and the Groups to EUR 279,176,640 (as at 31
December 2021, EUR 180,884,755 and EUR 180,583,358, respectively), the Bank's financial
result was a loss of EUR 4,195,751, and the Group's -~ a loss of EUR. 3,683,844 (a@s at 31
December 2021, EUR 83,996 and EUR 462,984, respectively).
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ended 31 December 2022

In 2022, compared to the previous financial year, net interest income of the Group increased by
64%; and net.commissicn incomie increased by 1842%. In 2022, interest-on deposils paid totalled
EUR 3,091,111 (2021: 651,522).

The financing: portfolio granted by the Group based on the type of financing as of the [ast day of
thefinancial year,

EUR 33,976,626 of factoring (31 December 2021: EUR 40,567,442);

EUR 135,744,476 of loans (31 December 2021: EUR 83,664,241);

EUR 19,452,052 of lease (31 December 2021: EUR 836,518).

The Bank's and the Group’s compliance with prudential ratios as at 371st December 2022 is

presented in the table below:

Name Bank Group
Capital adequady ratio 2511% 26.86%
Leverage ratio 10.09% 10.08%
Liquidity coverage ratio 1626.02%. | 1683.85%
Net stable funding ratio 155.55% 158.66%
Large exposure requirement 21.15% 271.14%

2 Strategy and _pfans

The Group provides services in-Germany, Lithuania, and Latvia. In Germany, through the Raisin
platform, the Bank provides natural persons with the opportunity to choose the Bank's deposit
oifer with favourable interest rate while in Lithuania the Bank offérs deposit service to legal

entities. Lithuania and Latvia are the Group’s markets for financing activities.
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ended 31 December 2022

The Group's strategy for the coming years is to focus on the Lithuanian ‘market for financing:
activities, aiming for assel diversification through products and clients. The key financing segment
will remain small and medium sized enferprises.

Furthermore, the Group plans to diversify its source of funding by starting to accept deposits in
Spain and :.Neth_erl_and:s:_through' the Raisin _deposit'_platform, as-well as begin to collect deposits.
thirough Check24-deposit platform in Germany.

3. Information on research and devefopment activities
During January - November 2022, the: Group invested in development of an automatic credit
decision system. In December 2022, the project was. terminated.

4. Strategy implementation

The implementation of the Group’s strategy is based on the su pply of services tailored to small
and medium sized enterprises, the needs. of which are not -sétisﬁed hy traditional commercial.
banks. The Group’s competitive advantage is based on the key client-focused principles:

« Flexible busihe'ss-ﬁnancing' solutions;

» Fastand smooth processes from decision-making to client financing;

« High expertise in the segment 'of small and medium sized businesses.

5. Organizational structure
The Bank’s organizational structure meets the specifics of the business model on the provision of
banking services and implementation of advanced international business practices.

The Supervisory- Council consists of four independent members who are not related.to the Bank
in terms:of employment relations.

The Supervisory Council ‘appoints the Bank's Board which currently consists of: Head of
Administration, Deputy Head of Administration, Head of Business for Baltics, Head of
Technologies. The Management Board makes day-to-day executive decisions and implements
the strategy of the Bank, implements risk management framework.

The Bank has established the Audit Committee, which members are the same as those of the

Bank’s Supervisory Council.
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6. Governance structure
The Bank's management bodies. are thé General Meeting of Shareholders, the Supervisory
Couricil, the Management Board, and the Head of Administration.
The Heads of the Bank are the members of the Supervisory Council, members of the
Management Board, the Head of Administration, the Deputy Head of Administration, and the
Head of the Internal Audit.

The General Meeting of Shareholders is convened annually, no later than four months after the
end of the financial year, Extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may also be convéned.
The General Meeting. of Shareholders has @n exclusive right to:

» Amend the Articles of Association of the Bank, except for the exceptions seét by legal acts;

» Elect and revoke the members. of the Bank's Supervisory. Coungil;

+ Elect and revoke an audit company to perform the audit of the annual financial statements;
set the conditicns for payment for audit services;

« Approve the set of the Bank's annual financial statements, distribution of profit (loss),
formation, use, feduction, and annulment of reserves;

» Increase and reduce authorised capital except for the exceptions set by legislation;

» Adopt other decisions provided in the Articles.of Association of the Bank.

The General Meeting of Shareholders may also decide on other issues if, following the legislation
and the Bank's Articles of Association, it is not assigned to other Bank’s bodies énid if these are
not the functions of the Bank's management bodies.

The Bank’'s Supervisory Council is a collegial supervisory body supervising the Bank's
activities, The Supervisary Council is headed by its chairman: The Bank's Supervisory Council,
consisting of four members, is elected by the General Meeting of Sharehelders for a period: of
four years. Four independent members have been elected to the current Supervisory Council.
The functions of the Supervisory Council:

» Elects the Bank's Management Board members and removes them from office. If the
-activities of the Bank are loss-making, the Supervisory Council must consider whether the
Management Board members are fit for the position;

» Supervises the activities of the 'Mana_gement Board and of the Head of Administration;

+ Adopts the working regulation of the Bank's Supervisory Council;

« Approvesthe Bank's activity plans;.
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L]

Ensures that effective internal contrals and internal audit systems are in place;
Forms.the Audit Committee-and approves its regulations;:

Submits suggestions and feedback to-the General Meeti'n‘g.of'Shareh"c)lders.c'm the Bank's
activity strategy, the set'of the Bank’s annual financia) statements, draft appropriation of
pro_ﬁt-(_losses),_ and the Barik's annual managemient report as well as oh the activity of the
Head of Administration;

Submits suggestions to the Management Board and the Head. of Administration to revoke
their decisions if they are in conflict with laws.and ofher legal acts, the Barik's Articles of
Association, or decisions of the General Meeting of Shareholders:

Considers and makes decisions on other matters which, based on the legisiation, the
Bank's Articles of Assotiation,

The Bank’s Management Board s a collegial management body of the Bank consisting of four

members, It..'ménage's the BanK and is liable for the Bank's financial sérvices. The Mariagement

Board function is regulated by the Working regulations of ‘the Managem'eht_ Board. The’

Managémenit Board riembers are elected, removed from office, and supervised by the Bank's

Supervisory Council. The Bank's Management Board considers and approves:

The Bank’s annual management report;
The Bank’s governance structure and employees’ positions as well as positions to which

employees are recruited with the approval of the Management Board or by the procedure

of competition;

Regulations of the Bank’s divisions;

Reguiations of the Bank's Credit Committee;

Determiries the: information ‘which is considered the Barik's corimercial secret and

-confidential information.

In addition, the' Management-Board elects (appoints} and removes from office the Bank’s Head

of Administration-and Deputies.

The Management Board makes the following decisions:

Decisions on the Bank’s becoming the founder or participant of other I'eg'_al entities;

Decisions on the establishment of the Bank's branches, representative offices, and other

distinct Bank’s branches or onterminating their activities;
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« Dedgisions on the investment, disposal or lease of non-current assets:the carrying amount
of which exceeds 1/20-of the Bank's authorised capital (cafculated.separately for each
type of transaction);

« -Decisions.on-the pledge and mortgage of non-current assets the carrying amount of which
exceeds 1/20 of the Bank's authorised capital (total amount of transactions);

+ Decisions on sureties or guarantees for obligations of other persons-the amount-of which
exceeds: 1/20 of the Bank's authorised capital;

+ Decisions on the acquisition” of non:current ‘assets for the price exceeding 1/20 of the
Bank’s authorised capital;

« Decisions on the issuance of non-convertible bonds;

« Approval of the Management Board's working regulation;;:

+ Decisions on other matters which, under the legislation and under the Bank's Ardicles of
Association, must be considered and decided by the Managemient Board.

The Management Board impletments the decisions taken by the General Meeting of Shareholdérs
and b_y_-th‘e:SUpervisOry.CounciI.'-The'Management-Boar’d -analyses-and assesses the information
submitted by the Head of Administration on:

» Implementation of the Bank’s activity plans;

« Organization of the Bank's activities;

«  Financial position of the Bank;

« Results of economic activities, income and expenses, accounting date of stock-taking and

‘other changes in assets.

In addition, the Management Board analysés, and assesses the Bank’s set of annual financial
statements-and draft appropriation of profit (loss) and submits them to-the Supervisory Council
and the General Meeting of Shareholders. Also, the Management Board decides on other matters
if, based onthe legislation or the Bank’s Articles of Association,. they are not assigned to-other
Bank’s badies. The Management Board is responsible for the timely convening and organising of
the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Head of Administration is the sole management body 6f the Bank organizing the Bank's
activities and performing actions necessary to perform the Bank's functions, implement the

decisions of the Bank’s bodies; and ensure the Bank's activities.
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The Head of Administration acts on-behalf of the Bank and is entitied to unilaterally conclude
transactions except for the exceptions set by laws, the Bani's Articles of Association, or the.
decisions: of the Bank’s bodies. '

Committees of the Bank

The following four committees are in the. Bank: the Credit Committee, the Audit' Committee, the-
Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Debt Management Committee. '

The Credit Management Commiittee is established by the Manageément Board. The Credit
Committee is responsible for the supervision of the Bank’s credit risks. The'main responsibilities
of the Debt Management Committee are examining client credit requests, de¢iding on financing;
and sétting financing conditions.

The Debt Management Cofmmittee is chaired by the Head of Credits.

The Audit Committee is established by the Supervisory Council. The Audit Committee is
responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal coritrol, risk management, and.
internal audit systems, legal compliance of the Bank's operatiOns;_,- and the process. of financial
reporiing within the.Bank.

The members of the Audit committee are those of the Bank's Supervisary Council, The Chairman
of the Supervisory Counéil i also appointed as the Chairinan of the Audit Committee..

The Assets and Liabilities Committee is established by the Management Board. The Assets
and Liabilities Committee is responsible for implementing the liquidity strategy of the Bank, its

assessing and making rélevant decisions,

The Assets and Liabilities Committee is-chaired by the: Chief Financial Officef:

The Debt Management Committee is. established by the Management Board. The Debt
Management Comimittee is responsible for meonitoring overdues of the customers, making and
implementing decisions with regard fo customers’ overdues and debt recovery,

‘The Debt Management Committee is chaired by the Workout Manager.

7. Risk management and internal controls:

The detailed information on the Group’s main risks and their management framework is provided
in the section 22 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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The Group acknowledges that every employee of the -organization is responsible for the
‘effectiveness of risk managenmient and internal control framework.

To manage risks, the Bank uses the three lines model. The three lines-model contributes to a
better unders{anding of risk management.and control by clarifying the different roles and duties
‘expected from each employee,

The three lines model distinguishes three groups (or lines) participating in effective risk

‘management:

« Functions assuming and managing risks;.

» Functions responsible for risk contrgl;

« Functions responsible for the independent assessment of the efficiency of risk
management pracesses and internal contro] framework.

First.line comprises all risk. owning functions at'the Bank. The first line includes functions such
as Sales, Operations, Credits, Treasury, Finance; Legal and I T, which are considered risk owners.
Second line comprises the Bank's risk monitoring and supervision functions. It comprises of Risk
management function, Compliance function, Informatioh security function; Data protection
function, and Prevention of money laundering, terrorist financing-and financial crimes function.

_Risk- imanagement function, steered. by"the Chief Risk Officer, is:responsible for:

« Carrying out the supetvision and control of the risk managérment process at the Group. It
also-actively provides guidelines and support to other structural divisions of the Group in
implementing and maintaining a strong and sustainable risk cufture;

« Identification, ‘¢ontrol and analysis.of all the main risks which affect or may affect the
Group's activities. The Risk management function shall also control whethér other
structural divisions of the Group .ensure..appropriate-o.\zersight of their main risks;

« Assessment of any potential risks that may arise during the implementation of new
producis cor material amendments of them arid determination how they ¢an influence the.
Group’s overall risks and risk profile.

Chief Risk Officer is accountable to the Management Board: and reports directly to the Deputy of
Head of Administration.

Compliance function is responsible fer behavioural and compliance risk, except for fraud-related

risk, money-taundering prevention, fight against térrorist financing -and sanctions control (but
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including risks of modern slavery, fight against bribery and corruption). It is responsible for the
detection, assessment and monitoring of the Group’s behavioural and compliance risks and
implementation of control framework, as well as for the submission of reports on the Group’s
compliance with the effective laws and other regulations to the Group's management bodies. This
includes: i) assistance to the first line in identifying existent and potential behavioural and
compliance risks and implementation of control measures to mitigate these risks; and ii)
monitoring and testing of the efficiency of control measures to prevent behavioural and
compliance risks from occurring or mitigating them.

Head of Compliance is accountable to the Management Board and by administrative procedure
to the Deputy Head of Administration.

The Prevention of money laundering, terrorist financing and financial crimes function bears the

same responsibilities as the compliance function but is responsible for the control and prevention
of financial crimes and external fraud-related risks as well as for the prevention of money-
laundering and terrorist financing and for sanctions control.

The Money Laundering Reporting Officer is accountable to the Management Board and by
administrative procedure to the Deputy Head of Administration.

Third line is related to the Internal Audit function, which is independent from the first and second
lines. Internal Audit function assess:

e Appropriateness of the Bank's governance framework;

e Adequacy and compliance of the existing policies and procedures with legal and
regulatory requirements and with the risk appetite and strategy of the Bank;

e Adequacy, quality and effectiveness of the controls performed and the reporting done by
the business units and the risk management and compliance functions.

The Internal Audit Manager is accountable to the Audit Committee which holds meetings at least
quarterly. The Audit Committee accounts to the Bank's Supervisory Council at least once a year.
8. Employees and remuneration policy

Information on the Group’s employees and remuneration policy is provided in the Notes of the
Financial Statements and the Group’s Risk Management and Capital Adequacy Report

(https://www.payray.bank/It/financial-reports-It/).
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9. Information on the positions held by managers

Informatlon Bn- other functlons of the Head of Admlnlstratlon, the Management Board members

and the members of the Supemsory Council is presented in the tab[e be!ow

Tikslo st. 10,

Lvivo st. 25,

PayRay Bank, _ i
UAB Head of PayRay SIA
Renato La Manageme | (304862948, Adtinisiratio | (40203260896, | Member of
Fianza nt.Board Lvivo st: 25, 0 T Duntes st. 3, i the Board.
Vilnius, ' Riga)
Lithuania)
| PayRay SIA
(40203260896, |
PayRay Bank, %;r:;; Sst.3, Member of
- UAB Deputy Head | ga) the Board
Mindaugas Manageme | (304862948, of .
Stasionis nt Board Lvivo st, 25, -.Adm:nlstratlo .Anahata
- | Vinius, n (05720752
Lithuania) _;_emaltes st. 5- Head
22, Vilnius,
1 Lithuania)
F'ayRay Bank _ -
UAB ' Head.of PayRay SIA .
Palius Joksas | Manageme (304862948, Baltic 140203260885, | Member of
nt Board Lvivo st. 25, Busingss Duntesst. 3, the Board
Vilnius;. o ' ‘Riga)
Lithuania)
PayRay Bank,
UAB
Gianluca Manageme | (304862948, ggtl:ifnolo i
Balducei ntBoard | Lvivo st. 25, Officar 9y |-
Vilnius;
Lithuania)
Gintautas Supervisory ”1228*'55";‘1;9 Chairmian of | GGLIF, UAB
Galvanauskas | Council | &1 the (305825276,
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Kaunas dist.,
Lithuania) -
Chairmari of the
Board, Head of
Business

| Development

Supervisory
Council

Vilnius,
Lithuania)

UAB Energia
futura
(304433393,
Draugystés st.
15M, Kaunas,
Lithuania)

V8] Futbolo
klubas
(304984471,
J.Basanavigiaus
st. 26, Vilnius,
Lithuania)

UAB Sejico.
(303173811,
Kruosto st. 2T,
Kédainiaidist.,
Lithuania)

Raft Capital
Management,
UAB (Gedimino
av. 50, Vilnius,
Lithuania)

Member of
the Board;

Member.of
the Board;

Member of
the Board;

Partner.

Kestutis
Slizas

Supervisory
Council

IP1 Stl
(IT03291129,
Giuseppe
Piermarini st. 19,
Perugia, Italy) -
Chief Executive
Officer

Member of
Supervisory
Couneil

{ AB Lietuvos

GeleZinkeliai
(110053842,
GeleZinkelio st:
16; Vilnius,
Lithuania)

Chairman
of the
Board
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Fitodenta, UAB

(305460265,
Raudondvario
rd. 148, Kaunas,
Lithuania)
Satimed UAB President;
(303408412, Lithuanian BIO Chairman
Ea_uﬁ_no st 37, borof (126374821, ofthe
_ Jtena, Member of Balcikonio st. 3 Board;
Tomag._ . _S__up_er_\{l_sory Lithuania) - -SUpérvisory-' iz, ' ;
Andrej_auskas Counci Head of Council Lithuariia)
Business-
Development,
Partner: Bioremedium,
UAB Chief
(305913988, Techniology
Wrilversiteto st. | Officer.
3, Vilnius,
Lithuania)
Roberto Stpervisory | _ Memper o _
Pollara Coungil 'coﬂrscii voi-

“Mindaugas Stasionis ceased to perform his duties as a member of Board and deputy head of
administration at PayRay Bank UAB from 31 March 2023.

10. Significant events after the end of the reporting period

Ongoing Russia war in. Ukraine and inflationary pressures: continue to weigh. on ecohomies

‘worldwide, reS'uIting-ih"slowed. economic activity.. Global growth is projected to decelerate sharply

in.2023, especially in the euro area, The latest. economic data in Germany and Lithuania r.eye_aiéd

that both countries’ gross domestic product contracted by 0.4% and 0.5% respectively during Q4

2022,

I order to fight high'inflation, the European Central Bank has initiated morietary policy tighteriing.

By the end of 2022, the European Central Bank's rate of main refinancing operations was 2.5%

(compared to 0% at the start of the year) and it was inc¢reased to 3.0% on 8th February 2023.

Moreover, the European Central Bank has increased the key interest rates by additiona] 50 basis
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points on 16th of March while indicating that further interest rate decisions will be determined by
the assessment of the inflation outlook.

The sudden increase of Euribor rates driven by the European Central Bank’s monetary policy had
a positive impact on the Group's financial results in the first quarter of 2023. However, in the light
of an uncertain economic outlook, the Group closely monitors the economic situation and its loan
portfolio performance. Taking into account the abovementioned circumstances, the Group

continuously reviews and adapts its financing guidelines for new credit origination.

In January 2023, the Bank of Lithuania started a non-routine inspection of the Bank. The focus of
the inspection is credit risk management, liquidity management, interest rate risk management,
and governance of the Bank. The results of the inspection are expected to be issued in Q2-Q3
2023.

In March 2023, the Latvian State Revenue Service initiated an audit in the areas of money

laundering and terrorist financing prevention on the Bank's subsidiary PayRay SIA.
Consolidated annual report designed 28 April 2023.

PayRay Bank, UAB

Head of Administration

Renato La Fianza

i
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Interest income calculated using effective interest method
Interest expenses
Net interest income (expense)

Commission income
Commission expenses
Net commission income (expenses)

Other operating income

Credit loss allowance

Payroll expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of
intangible assets

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Profit (loss) before tax

Income tax expense
Profit (loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax

Earnings (losses) per share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Director
Renato La Fianza

Authorised person of BDO auditas ir apskaita
Aurelija Janulaityté

o
DanfM co Poui1

Notes

21,17

o~ o~

e

2022 2021

11 853 621 5996 137
(3 091 111) (651 522)
8 762 510 5344 615
145 228 27 063
(43 858) (21842)
101 370 5221
211 554 83 431
(3 115 047) (710 192)
(5 289 086) (3 144 429)
(645 382) (264 042)
(3 848 797) (1784 901)
(12 285) (5 asgg

(3 835 163) (476 186
151 319 13 202
(3 683 844) (462 984)
(3 683 844) (462 984)
(0) (0)

—7

f/ &

e
%“ Ao 28 April 2023

& /ﬁi’niﬁf),
A
; dfd/,/ 28 April 2023

(date)

(signature)

(date)

}/) ‘/ﬁ/ﬂ»\,\ N3 Naww 2023
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2022 2021
Notes

EUR EUR
Assets
Cash on hand and balances with central banks 16 66 401 317 55 090 620
Securities issued by governments 15 22 790 253 -
Loans to customers and factoring receivables 12.13 186 934 340 123 868 254
Intangible assets 10 1589 285 640 302
Property, plant and equipment 9 295 652 167 746
Right-of-use assets 11 308 660 341127
Deferred tax asset 8 527 981 376 269
Other financial assets 14 215 335 48 835
Other assets 15 113 817 50 200
Total assets: 279 176 640 180 583 353
Liabilities
Customer deposits 18 241 916 268 141 560 542
Lease liabilities 11 311 345 334 548
Payables 19 6610 225 4628 442
Provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities 21 18 226 137 404
Other liabilities 19 350 276 148 661
Total liabilities: 249 206 340 146 809 597
Equity
Issued capital 17 36 424 791 36 424 791
Retained earnings 17 (6 334 879) (2 651 035)
Profit (loss) not recognized in statement of profit and loss and other o4 119 612
comprehensive income ( ) )
Total equity: 29 970 300 33773756
Total equity and liabilities: 279 176 640 180 583 353

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

—

Director
Renato La Fianza

Authorised person of BDO auditas ir apskaita
Aurelija Janulaityté

28 April 2023

: (date)
5 28 April 2023
(date)

I.fs.‘dﬁturej
/

[k =~1
DeneoNc ‘?os.,n o

//L,, W ML 2923
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As at 31 December 2020

Profit (loss) for the year

As at 31 December 2021

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) not recognized in statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive
income

As at 31 December 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Director
Renato La Fianza

Authorised person of BDO auditas ir apskaita
Aurelija Janulaityté

CFo
PonENca foLin

Profit (loss) not
recognized in "
Retained
ISSI..!Gd statement of profit earnings Total equity
capital and loss and other
(loss)
comprehensive
income
EUR EUR EUR EUR
36 424 791 - (2 188 051) 34 236 740
& - (462 984) (462 984)
36424 791 - (2 651 035) 33773756
- - (3 683 844) (3 683 844)
- (119 612) i (119 612)
36 424 791 (119 612) (6 334 879) 29 970 300
28 April 2023
(date)
28 April 2023
(signature) ignature) {date)

Doy

~

24 AL 2023
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Notes
Profit (loss) for the year
Operating activities
Credit loss allowance 21
Interest income 6
Interest expenses 6
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of inta  9,10,11
Change in deferred tax 8
Other non-cash transactions elimination
Total adjustments to operating activities
Working capital adjustments
Net change in loans granted 12, 13
Changes in other financial assets 14
Net changes in other assets 15
Changes in customer deposits 18
Change in payables 19
Changes in other liabilities 19
Total changes in assets and liabilities of operating activities
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisition of securities issued by governments 15
Acquisition of intangible assets 9,11
Acquisition of intangible assets 10
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Financing activities
Lease payments 11
Net cash flows from/used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period 16
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 16

Director
Renato La Fianza

Authorised person of BDO auditas ir apskaita
Aurelija Janulaityté

CHre C
DanTAco Rovim

2022 2021

EUR
(3 683 844) (462 984)
3115047 710 192
(11 853 621) (5 996 137)

3091111 651 522
881672 269 005
(151712) (13512)
(2 330 895) 92 449
(7 248 398) (4 286 481)
(63 340 815) (87 123 856)
(166 500) (18 426)
(63 617) (324 250)

98 914 758 135 335 639

1865576 1736 347
201615 291 782

37 411 017 49 897 236

11 397 310 5674 478
(1 650 143) (204 516)

36 225 942 50 617 733
(22 733 488) ..
(501 010) (451 444)

(1 657 544) (250 449)
(24 892 042) (701 893)

23 203) 201 762

23 203) 201 762

11 310 697 50 117 602

55 090 620 4973 018

66 401 317 55 090 620

28 April 2023

(date)
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Consolidated notes to the financial statements
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1. General information

PayRay Bank, UAB (hereinafter — “the Bank"), code 304862948, is a private limited liability company registered in Lithuania. On 18 September 2018, Vilnius factoring
company, UAB name was changed to PayRay Bank, UAB. The Company was registered as Vilnius factoring company, UAB, on 25 June 2018. The registered office is
located at Lvovo st, 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania.

On 3 December 2019, the European Central Bank together with the Bank of Lithuania granted to the Bank a full banking license. The license secures a right to the Bank
to collect deposits. The Company was converted to a bank during Q3 2020, PayRay Bank, UAB finally converted to a bank on 15 October 2020.

PayRay Bank, UAB Group is made up of the Bank and its subsidiaries (hereinafter “the Group”).
As at 31 December 2022, the Bank had the following directly controlled subsidiaries:

- PayRay SIA (other lending services: factoring, provision of loans to small and medium entities).
- PayRay Estonia OU (commercially inactive).

The principal activity of the Group is provision of financial services. The Group provides loans to small and medium entities (SME) and purchases amounts receivable
which are the subject of factoring arrangements. The following factoring types can be identified:

- recourse factoring, where the Group extends credit limit to it's customer, and gets invoices issued by the customer to a third party (amounts receivable) as credit
enhancement. In most cases such amounts receivable have 10-20% higher nominal value compared to credit exposure amount to the customer. The cash flow from
amounts receivable is used to repay the credit. If cash flows from receivables are not sufficient to cover the credit obligation of the customer, the Group applies recourse
and directs the claim for the debt amount unpaid to the customer;

- non-recourse factoring, is a type of factoring where the Group is purchasing receivables (invoices) issued by it's customer to a third party and then collects payments
according to the payment schedules of these invoices. In this case, the debtor of the Group is the party towards which the invoice is issued. Also, in non-recourse
factoring the Group usually purchases amounts receivable paying to the seller 80-90% of their nominal value,

In 2019, the Group started to grant business micro-loans with guarantee of the European Investment Fund. The maximum amount of such loan is EUR 25,000. The
maximum term is one year. In 2020, the Bank entered into EaSl guarantee approval form with the European Investment Fund (EIF), which allowed increasing the
maximum amount of loan to one customer from EUR 25,000 to EUR 50,000. In addition, having signed this form, during the COVID-19 pandemic period (until 30 June
2021}, the loan guarantee was increased from 80% to 90%.

In some cases trade insurance fo insure the Group’s customers or third parties towards whom the invoices are issued from the risk of bankruptcy can be applied.
Recourse factoring arangements, having such trade insurance are sometimes referred to as factoring with ‘limited recourse’. In 2022 and 2021, the Group was only
using Insurance by globally known trade insurance companies such as Coface, Atradius, Euler Hermes, Nexus or the guarantee granted by the European Investment
Fund.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the shareholder of the Bank was 2404 S.A., Bank code B224715, registered at 76, Grand Rue, L - 1660 Luxembourg, Luxembourg.
The shareholder holds 100% of shares in the Bank.

In 2022, the Group had shares of one class held by one shareholder, 2404 S.A. Ultimate controlling persons are individuals holding 50% of shares each.

In 2020, the Bank established a company PayRay SIA. The Bank became the parent company of PayRay SIA owning 100% of the share capital of PayRay SIA, PayRay
SIA is the Bank's subsidiary. The accounting policies of the subsidiary are based on the same International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as the Group's.
Financial data of PayRay SIA is included in the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Group.

In 2021, the Bank established a company PayRay Estonia OU. The Bank became the parent company of PayRay Estonia OU owning 100% of the share capital of
PayRay Estonia OU. PayRay Estonia OU is the Bank's subsidiary. The accounting policies of the subsidiary are based on the same International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as the Group's. Although commercially inactive in 2022, financial data of PayRay Estonia OU is included in the consolidated financial statements
prepared by the Group.

On 25 March 2022, the Bank completed the partial acquisition of business from Technology Srl. The software development business was purchased as “transfer of going
concem” and under the framework of “business combination under common control” as both parties had the same sole shareholder.

As at 31 December 2022, the average number of the Group's employees was 98 (31 December 2021, 55).

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 are approved by the Board and the shareholder. The shareholder of the Group has a
statutory right to either approve these financial statements or not approve them and require a new set of financial statements to be prepared.

The Group's financial reporting year coincides with a calendar year.
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group confrols an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the investee. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control of these companies. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions (that is, as transactions with the owners in their
capacity as owners). The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the camrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in the Group's equity. Gains or losses on acquisition of non-controlling interest or disposal of shares to non-controlling interest are also recorded in the Group's
equity.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree's identifiable net assets.
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1. General information (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree Is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or loss arising from such re-measurement is recognised in profit or loss,

The excess of the consideration transferred the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

To determine whether the value of goodwill acquired on business combination has decreased, it has to be attributed as from the date of acquisition to each cash-
generating unit, which should obtain benefits from the synergy irrespective of whether the assets or liabilities of the acquiree are attributable to mentioned units, Where
goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between the Group companies (including subsidiaries classified as held for sale) are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, accounting policies
of subsidiaries were changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Bank.

2, Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Lithuanian legal acts on accounting and financial reporting and with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

The financial statements are presented in euros and all values are rounded to the nearest whole number, except where otherwise indicated.

3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Group's financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis. As at the date of approval of the financial statements, there were no indications that the
Group will not be able to continue as going concern, and the Group's activities are not restricted.

The preparation of the Group's financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in
future periods.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are reasonable under the current circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about camying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates,

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are
revised or in any fulure periods affected.

udgements

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is
included in the following sections of accounting policies:

- Section ‘Financial Assets'. Assessment of the business mode! within which the assets are held and assessment of whather the contractual terms of the financial asst
are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

- Section 'Impairment of Financial Assets’. Assumptions establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition, determining methodology for incarporating forward-looking information into measurement of ECL and selection and approval of models used to
measure ECL.

The Group's management estimates that the Group acts as a financial intermediary channelling funds from Zemés Ukio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas under the incentive
financial instrument "Loans to Secure the Liquidity of Undertakings Active in the Production, Processing and Marketing of Agricultural and Fishery Products During the
Period of the Outbreak of COVID-19".

The basis for such management estimate is the agreement with Zemés Okio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas, which defines the Group as a financial intermediary that lends
funds received from Zemés Ukio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas without taking final decisions on the granting of funds to borrowers, therefore the Group does incur any
financial or non-financial liability for defaulting borrowers,

As the Group acts as a financial intermediary when granting loans under the said incentive financial instrument, the funds received by borrowers from the Fund and loans
repayable by borrowers under the instrument are not recorded in the Group's accounts and disclosed in the Group's financial statements, under assets or liabilities.

Group’s activities under the incentive financial instrument of Zemss Ukio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas fo secure the liquidity during the period of Russian military

aggres inst Ukrai

The management estimates that the Group acts as a financial intermediary channelling funds from Zemes Ukio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas under the incentive financial
instrument “Loans to Secure the Liquidity of Undertakings Active in the Production, Processing and Marketing of Agricultural and Fishery Products in Response to
Russian aggression against Ukraine”,

The basis for such management estimate is the agreement with Zemés Okio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas, which defines the Group as a financial intermediary that lends
funds received from Zemés Ukio Paskoly Garantijos Fondas without taking final decisions on the granting of funds to borrowers, therefore the Group does incur any
financial or non-financial liability for defaulting borrowers.
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As the Group acts as a financial intermediary when granting loans under the said incentive financial instrument, the funds received by borrowers from the Fund and loans
repayable by borrowers under the instrument are not recorded in the Group's accounts and disclosed in the Group's financial statements, under assets or liabilities.

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

As: al imation inties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 is included in the following notes:

- Section "Impairment of Financial Assets". Assumptions on the impairment of financial instruments determining inputs into the ECL measurement model, including
incorporation of forward-looking information.

Taxes
Deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax asset that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Details on taxes are disclosed in Note 9.

In the process of handling its accounting records and financial reporting the Group follows general accounting principles:

Group's principle. In accordance with this principle, the Group shall be considered as a separate unit of accounting and the Group's financial statements shall reflect only
its assets, equity and liabilities.

Principle of going concemn. Financial statements shall be prepared based on the assumption that the Group will continue its operations indefinitely and is not going to be
liquidated or its operations shall not be suspended.

Principle of consistency. In order to ensure that the data of the financial statements for one period can be compared with data from other periods, the accounting rules
and methods should remain unchanged for a sufficiently long period. If certain accounting policies are changed during or after a reporting period, (i} comparative

information about financial results that would have been achieved with previous accounting policies, and (ii) information on current financial results must be provided in
the explanatory notes to the financial statements.

Principle of accrual. Economic transactions and other events of the Group shall be recorded in accounting when they occur and shall be presented in financial
statements of such periods, irrespective of the receipt or payment of cash. Financial statements drafted applying the accrual principle shall inform their users nat only
about the past events but also about obligations to pay or receive cash in the future.

Principle of periodicity. The accounting activities of the Group are divided into financial years or other reporting periods and the financial statements are prepared for that
reporting period. Financial statements of the Group shall be prepared on the basis of data as at the last day of the reporting period.

Principle of prudence. A conservative approach to decisions or transactions should be adopted, which implies prudent assessment of the outcome of the decisions and
transactions, and ensures that revenues or assets are not overestimated and costs or liabilities are not underestimated.

Principle of comparability. Revenue eamed during the reporting period shall be related to the expenses incurred to eam such revenue. Costs incurred in respect of
different periods shall be allocated to the periods during which the Group will eam the respective revenue. The accounting policies selected by the Group shall provide for
the application of new methods of accounting without violating the principle of comparability of financial statements. All financial statements shall provide disclosures
covering the current reporting year and at least one previous financial year (comparative information),

Principle of neutrality. The accounting information of the Group shall be presented impartially. Presentation of accounting information should not affect the decisions
taken by users of accounting information and should not result in predetermined outcome.

Principle of substance over form. In recording transactions and other events of the Group, the economic substance should take precedence over formal requirements or
legal form.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Group's financial statements for 2022 are set out below.,
Financial assets

Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises factoring arrangements, loans and advances on the date on which they are originated.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue.

ifi n

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured al (i) amortised cost (i) fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or (ijii) fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL).
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A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
- the asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
- the asset Is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI,

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to management.

The sole objective of the Group's business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows. The Group's business model remained unchanged during 2022.
Except for collection of deposits, which was set in the plans when converting to the Group.

The information considered for determining the abjective of the business model includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those palicies in practice. In particular, the Group’s strategy focuses on eaming contractual
interest income;

- the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank's management based mainly on credit portfolio volume and interest income eamed;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed
are typical for the activity of holding assets and collecting contractual cash flows,

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 'Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liguidity risk and administrative costs) as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset includes a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it could not be consistent with these contractual terms. In
making the assessment, the Group considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

- prepayment and extension terms (if any);

- terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse loans),

nition of financial assets.

The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual rights to the cash flows from this asset has expired or when the right to receive the agreed cash flows
from this financial asset has been transferred during the transaction, i.e. all risks and rewards of ownership of financial assets are transferred. Any interest in such
derecognised financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized)
and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (i) any cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss.

If the Group transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the right to service the financial asset for a fee, it shall
recognise either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that servicing contract.

If a transfer of a financial asset does not result in derecognition because the Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred
asset, the Group shall continue to recognise the transferred asset in its entirety and shall recognise a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent
periods, the Group shall recognise any income on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL (expected credit loss) on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
-financial assets that are debt instruments (incl. factoring arrangements);

-lease receivables;

-financial guarantee contracts issued;

-loan commitments issued.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12- month ECL:
- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
- other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition (Stage 1).

3
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12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial
instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’.

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is
recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as 'Stage 2 financial instruments’.

Assessment of expected credit losses
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Bank's historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:

- the remalining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with

- the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment
expectations).

The Group uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk:
- quantitative test based on changes in PD;

- qualitative indicators; and

- a backstop of 30 days past due.

Credit risk grades

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced
credit judgement.

Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure
and the type of borrower.

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference
in risk of default between credit risk grades A1 and A2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades C2 and C3.

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring,
which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade. The monitoring typically involves use of the following data.

Information obtained during periodic review of customer files — e.q. audited financial statements, management accounts, budgets and projections, Examples of areas of
particular focus are:
-gross profit margins, financial leverage ratios, debt service coverage, compliance with covenants, quality of management, senior management changes;
-data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in external credit ratings;
-quoted bond and credit default swap (CDS) prices for the borrower where available;
-actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatory and technological environment of the borrower or in its business activities;
record — this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment ratios;
-utilisation of the granted limit;
-requests for and granting of forbearance;
-axisting and forecast changes in business, financial and economic conditions,

Ge the term re of PD

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures, The Group collects performance and default information about its
credit risk exposures analysed by characteristics and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. For some portfolios, information purchased from
extemnal credit reference agencies is also used.,

The Group uses own assumptions and expert judgements to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these

are expected to change as a result of the passage of time. The number, diversity and complexity of credit exposures was limited in 2021-2022, therefore, the Group uses
simple modelling of PD in a homogeneous portfolio assessing exposures assigned to Stage 2 and 1 on collective, and those assigned to stage 3 on individual basis,
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Determi whether credit risk has i sed significant

The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date. Determining whether an increase in credit risk is
significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the borrower. What is considered significant differs for different types of lending. As a general
indicator, credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition if, based on the Group's quantitative modelling:

Quantitative criteria for determination of SICR using credit risk grades

Exposures in Stage 1

SICR automatic trigger for moving the financial X ]
instrument (credit exposures) across Stages {h: Grqu:::’s customer's are grouped into five risk categories:

. Low risk;
2. Moderate risk;
3. Increased risk;
4. High risk;
5, In-default.
The customer is moved to a higher stage:
- if the credit risk grade increase by more than one risk category, e.g. the customer's risk exposure changes from Low
risk category to Increased risk category;
- if the customer’s risk category bacomes material {i.e. the customer’s risk is attributed to high risk or default risk
categories),
- if a significant loss events become known and, in the assessment of the Debt Management Committee or Risk
Management Department, this may lead to a deterioration of the Customer’s credit quality (the Group is informed of the
initiation of reorganisation or bankruptcy process against the company).

The credit risk may also be d d to have inc d significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors linked to the Group's credit risk management
processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk
criteria, such as placement on a watch list. Such qualitative factors are based on its expert judgment and relevant historical experiences.

The Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs when liabilities towards the Group are more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by
counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been received.

In factoring exposures with recourse, when credit exposure has to be covered by numerous different buyers (within the same contract), and no recourse has been applied
to the seller so far, a materiality threshold of 2% to the whole exposure is applied towards overdue exposure of more than 30 days, but not exceeding 90 days.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument retums to being
measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinguency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of
default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to
demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the
criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified contractual terms. Usually, probation
period of 3 months or any longer period that the Group's Credit Committee deems appropriate is used.

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify a significant increase in credit risk through regular reviews to validate whether:

- the criteria can be used to identify a significant increase in credit risk before the exposure defaults;

- the criteria mismatches the timing when an asset becomes past due for up to 30 days;

- the average time between determining a significant increase in credit risk and the occurrence of default is reasonable;

- typically, exposures are not moved directly from 12-month ECLs to credit-impaired ECLs; there is no reasonable change in loss allowance for the exposure to be moved
from 12-month ECLs (Stage 1) to lifetime ECLs (Stage 2).

Definition of default

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
- the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the Group;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the borrower's inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group considers indicators that are:

- qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;

- quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the Group; and
- based on data developed internally and obtained from extemal sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
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Incol tion of forward-looking inform

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial
recognition and the measurement of ECL,

Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of available data, has
estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses.

Because of homogeneous nature of Group's lending portfolio, it is reasonable to assume that without undue cost and effort it is practicable to focus on a single selected
forward-looking macroeconomic indicator when measuring the SICR on a portfolio level. Therefore, on a portfolio level, forecasted changes in Lithuania's and Latvia's
GDP is a well-balanced indicator that can be used to signal increases in credit risk for all credit exposures in the portfolio.

Many credit exposures in the Group's credit portfolio is shorter than 12 months. In majority of cases, credit facilities granted by the Group have 30-80 days revolving
maturities after which credit is extended again. Each such time the Group retains the right to cancel the credit to the borrower (not to further extend) unilaterally without
any penalties, thus all credit facilities are uncommitted. This implies short term nature of credit exposures of the Group.

Therefore, information based on quarterly changes of actual and forecasted GDP have been selected as a proxy for evaluating forward-looking macroeconomic impact
on credit risk of the borrowers. Considering lagging nature of the indicator, combination of actual and forecasted data allows to smooth the fluctuations and avoid
measurement biases.

However, the Group always applies borrower-specific credit analysis and constant monitoring of the exposure. Therefore, all borrower-specific signs of possible future
increase in credit risk are incorporated into client's PD on a regular basis.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
-probability of default (PD);

-loss given default (LGD);

-exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default, Since as at 31 December 202, the Group did not have sufficient historic date to reliably estimate individual
LGD values, it has decided to use LGD of 45% for all corporate borrowers. The LGD of 45% is a widely accepted standard in financial industry used by many banks
under ECB regulation (Standard Approach), especially, when estimates based on historical record are not available,

The Group further madifies chosen LDG parameter based on the collateral and credit enhancements of the claim that is integral to the financial asset.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the
current amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carmying amount at the time of default.

For lending and factoring commitments, the EAD is not calculated since all contractual terms of lending and factoring commitments are revocable, The Group can cancel
them with immediate effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in
credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take, and that serve to
mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits or entire cancellation of the facility.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the
maximum contractual period (including any borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at
which the Group has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified, or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the
borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:

- if the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in
calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset;

- if the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the
existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from
the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.
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Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease receivables
are credit-impaired (referred to as 'Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial asset is ‘credit- impaired’ when one or more events that have a defrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

-significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

-a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

-the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

-it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

-the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of
not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, retail loans that are overdue for 90 days or
more is considered credit<~mpaired even when the regulatory definition of default is different.

Presentation of allowance for in the statement of financial positio

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

-financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

-loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

-where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately
from those on the drawn component: the Group presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the
gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision;

- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financial position because the camrying amount of these assets is their fair
value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve.

Write-offs

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under impairment loss on financial instruments. Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recorded when the Group assumes a legal obligation to pay cash or settle other financial assets under an existing contract. Financial liabilities
according to their measurement are classified as: measured at amortised cost and measured at FVPL (this category includes financial liabilities held for trading). The fair
value of term deposits is measured by discounting expected cash flows using current market interest rates for similar financial instruments with similar terms.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified held for trading are included in the statement of profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arangement and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences remaining share in the Group's assets after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Group's own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. Mo gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.
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Compound instruments

The component parts of convertible loan are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument, A conversion option that will be settied by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group's own equity instruments is an equity instrument,

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate far a similar non-convertible instrument. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument's maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity wil
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium or ordinary shares. Where
the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible loan note, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to retained eamings. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability component and are amortised over the lives of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.

Amortised cost

The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount.

Fair asurement principles

‘Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date
in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects the effect of its non-
performance risk.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that instrument, If there is no quoted price in an
active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen
valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received.
If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that used only data from observable markets, the financial instrument is initially measured at
fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or
loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed
out,

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.
Accounting of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets shall be attributed to non-current where the following conditions are met: an asset is an identifiable non-monetary
asset without physical substance, the Group intends to use it for a period longer than one year, the Group reasonably expects a flow of economic benefits from such
asset in future periods, the Group can reliably measure the acquisition costs of the asset, risk related to the asset has been transferred to the Group and the acquisition
cost of the asset exceeds the minimum cost of property, plant and equipment set by the Group, i.e. EUR 500.

Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Depreciation is charged on the assets on a straight line basis to
allocate the cost to their residual values over useful lives.

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated amortisation (except for goodwill) and any accumulated
impairment loss.

Development costs are capitalised and recognised in the statement of financial positions, when the Bank/Group controls the resulting assel, and if it is probable that
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Bank/Group and the cost of asset can be measured reliably, In other cases, development costs
are expensed as they are incurred.

|
|

|
|




PayRay Bank, UAB
Company code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania

Consolidated notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022
4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Depreciation and amortisation rates (in years) for non-current assets

Group of non-current assets Method Rate (in years)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fumniture linear 6
Computers and communication equipment linear 3
Assets other than listed above linear 4
Intangible assets

Software (computer) linear 3
Core banking software linear 5
Acquired rights linear 3
Other intangible assets linear 4
Impai

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the asset. An asset is impaired when its camying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. If either of these amounts exceeds
the asset's camrying amount, the asset is not impaired and it is not necessary to estimate the other amount.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects curent market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Lease
Group is a lessor

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognised in net present value of the minimum lease payments, from which the payments of principal received
have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of contract. Lease payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial
income,

Financial income is recognised over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of retum on the lessor's net investment in the financial
lease. Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective interest rate and lessor's net investment. Lessor's direct expenses, related to
the contract, are part of effective interest rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables are
presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value,

The lease recelvable from the client is recognised in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the assets being the object of the agreement to the
client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the agreement having a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments
received from the lessees under these agreements are recognised in the statement of financial position under other liabilities. The amounts paid for the assets under
lease agreements not yet delivered are recognised in the statement of financial position as prepayments to suppliers under other assets.

Group as a lessee

A contract s, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. IFRS 16
requires the lessee to recognise a right of use asset and an associated liability. The right-of-use asset is depreciated and the liability accrues interest. This results in a
front-loaded pattem of expense for most leases, even when the lessee pays constant fixed annual lease payments.

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease. A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group separates payments and other consideration required by the arrangement into those
for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the
payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset, subsequently, the liability is reduced as
payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the liability is recognised using the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
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4, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases of property , plant and equipment that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased
assets are measured initially at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Group's statement of financial position.

The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of 'low-value' assets (e.g., personal computers) and short- term leases (i.e., leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less).

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee recognises a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability} and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset).

Lessees are required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of- use asset. Lessees are required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments).

The lessee generally recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as
an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability, The finance expense is
allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability at the end of each reporting
period.

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate and
deposit interest rate,

Income

The Group’s income consists of income from interest, commissions, insurance fees, agreement fees and late payment interest arising from financing and factoring
services under the contract with customers.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the effective interest rate method. Loan origination fees for loans issued to customers are deferred (together
with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective yield of the loans. Fees, commissions and other income items are generally recorded on an
accrual basis when the service has been provided. Interest income on late payment represents interest on delayed payment. Interest on late payment is recognised when
it is highly probable to receive it.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest
rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums or discounts.

Revenue from contracts with customers consists primarily of service-related fees and is reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
under commission income. Revenue is recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The
overall consideration received is allocated to each performance obligation, depending on whether they are satisfied either at a point in time or over time. Commission
income for asset management and custody services is generally recognised as revenue over time, as services are performed. Where fees are variable, i.e. performance-
based fees, revenue is recognised when it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount will not occur. Payment commissions and card fees are generally
recognised when the services are provided, at a point in time Fees related to service concepts are recognised over the period of time when the services are provided.
Lending fees that are not an integral part of the effective interest rate are recognised as commission income. Lending and deposits fees are recognised both over time
and at a point in time, depending on when the performance obligation is satisfied. Expenses for bought service directly attributable to generating commission income for
service provided are reported as commission expenses.

The Group'’s other income include income from acquisition of securities issued by governments, demand deposits in banks and income from intra-group transfer pricing
transactions. The income is recorded in the Group's statement of profit or loss or other comprehensive income under other operating income, Income is recognized on
accrual basis when eamed.

Costs

Costs are recognised based on the accrual and matching principles in the reporting period during which related income is eamed, imespective of the time the money was
spent. Costs are divided into personnel expenses, impaimment loss on receivables (related to operating activities of the Group and intended for eaming income),
administrative expenses and finance costs (interest on loan received from shareholders, deposit interest and lease liabilities). Costs that are not related to income eamed
during the reporting period, but expected to generate future economic benefits, are recorded in accounting and presented in financial statement as assets. The portion of
assets which is intended for earning income in future periods shall be recognised as expenses when the associated income is eamed.
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Transactions in foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into Euros at the Euro and foreign exchange rates announced by the European Central Bank in accordance with the
Law on Accounting at the dale of the transaction. Resulting exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss for the year,

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries, paid absences, performance-based cash awards and social security costs are recognised as expenses during the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of the previous year. It is measured using tax rate enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Corporate income tax in Lithuania

Corporate income tax s calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Law on Corporate Income Tax of the Republic of Lithuania. Tax losses can be carried
forward for indefinite time. Such transfer of losses shall be terminated if the Group ceases to camry out the activities that caused such tax losses to emerge, unless the
Group ceases its activities because of reasons beyond its control. Only up to 70% of current year's taxable profits can be offset against tax losses carried forward.

Corporate income tax in Latvia

Income tax expenses of the reporting period accounted for in the financial statements are determined based on calculations performed in accordance with tax legislation
of the Republic of Latvia. Income tax is recognised on profit for distribution when shareholders make a decision on profit distribution. Income tax applicable to profit
distributed in part is recognised in profit or loss in the year when calculated. In Latvia, income tax is applicable to net dividends instead of profit. Tax rate is 20% from
taxable basis.

Corporate income tax in Estonia

Income tax expenses of the reporting period accounted for in the financial statements are determined based on calculations performed in accordance with tax legislation
of the Republic of Estonia. Income tax is recognised on profit for distribution when shareholders make a decision on profit distribution. Income tax applicable to profit
distributed in part is recognised in profit or loss in the year when calculated. In Latvia, income tax is applicable to net dividends instead of profit. Tax rate is 20% from
taxable basis.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except
differences relating to the initial recognition of assets or liabilities which affect neither accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is calculated using rates that are expected to be applied on temporary differences when they are reversed, using tax rate currently enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. A deferred tax asset Is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Equity and reserves

Incremental costs directly aftributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

The net financial result (profit or loss) received during the financial year must be distributed not later than within 4 months after the end of the financial year, by the
decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders approving the annual financial statements,

A legal reserve is a compulsory reserve under legislation of the Republic of Lithuania. An annual transfer of 5% of net profit is compulsory until the total of the reserve
reaches 10% of the share capital. Legal reserve cannot be distributed for the payment of dividends. The reserve may be used only for covering the losses.

5. Application of new and amended International Financial Reporting Standards

During the reporting period, the Group adopted new standards and amendmenis to existing standards and their interpretations, which are relevant to the activities and
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

(a) Standards, their amendments and interpretations effective for annual pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements
2018-2020 (Amendments) (all issued on 14 May 2020 with effective date of 1 January 2022)
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5. Application of new and amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows:

* IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requir ts for busi binations.
* IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling
items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss of
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
« IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for
the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous,

* Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the lllustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 Leases.

These amendments are effective in European Union for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, The management assessed that these
amendments has no material impact on these financial statements.

(b) Standards issued but not vet effective and not early adopted and their amendments

New standards, amendments and interpretations that are not mandatory for reporting period beginning on 1 January 2022 and have not been early adopted when
preparing these financial statements are presented below:

IFRS 17 and IFRS 4: Deferral of the effective date of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 for insurers (issued on 25 June 2020, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023)

The amendments to IFRS 17 are effective, retrospectively, for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application permitted. The
amendments aim at helping companies implement the Standard, Overall, the amendments are designed to reduce costs by simplifying some requirements in the
standard; make it easier to explain financial performance; and ease transition by deferring the effective date of the standard to 2023 and by providing additional relief to
reduce the effort required when applying IFRS 17 for the first time,

The amendments to IFRS 4 change the fixed expiry date for the temporary exemption in IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts from applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, so that
entities would be required to apply IFRS 9 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

The management has assessed that these amendments will not have any impact on the Group's financial statements.
IFRS 17 Insurance Confracts (issued on 18 May 2017 with effective date of 1 January 2023).

The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 with earlier application permitted if both IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have also been applied, In its March 2020 meeting the IASB decided to defer the effective date to 2023. IFRS 17,
Insurance Contracts, establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts issued. It also requires similar principles
to be applied to reinsurance contracts held and investment confracts with discretionary participation features issued. The objective is to ensure that entities provide
relevant information in a way that faithfully represents those contracts. This information gives a basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that contracts
within the scope of IFRS 17 have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

This Standard will not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group as insurance services are not provided.

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments) (issued on 7 May 2021 with effective date of 1
January 2023),

Under the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. with earlier application permitted. The management has not yet
evaluated the impact of the implementation of these amendments.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (Amendments) (issued on 12 February 2021 with effective
date of 1 January 2023).

The amendments effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the
application of materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose 'significant’ accounting
policies with a requirement to disclose ‘material’ accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practice Statement to assist in the
application of the materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy disclosures. The management has not yet evaluated the impact of the
implementation of these amendments.

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Emors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments) (issued on 12 February 2021 with effective
date of 1 January 2023).

The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
Also, the amendments clarify what changes in accounting estimates are and how these differ from changes in accounting policies and comections of errors. The
amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that accur on or after the start of that period. The management has not yet evaluated the Impact of the implementation of
these amendments.
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5. Application of new and amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (issued on 23 January 2020 with effective date of 1 January 2024, but not before it is
adopted by the EU).

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies d ine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and
other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of
financial position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information
that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the Company issuing own equity
instruments. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The management has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (issued on 31 October 2022 with effective date of 1 January 2024, but not before it is adopted by the EU):
Modify the requirements introduced by Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current on how an entity classifies debt and other financial liabilities as current or non-
current in particular circumstances: Only covenants with which an entity is required to comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as
current or non-current. In addition, an entity has to disclose information in the notes that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk that non-current
liabilities with covenants could become repayable within twelve months. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The
amendments are applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS B and earlier application is permitted. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The
management has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of these amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback™ with amendments that clarify how a sellerdessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback
transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale (issued on 22 September 2022 with effective date of 1 January 2024, but not before it
is adopted by the EU).

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback” require a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabllities arising from a leaseback in a way that
it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in
profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 with earlier application permitted. A seller-lessee applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the
EU. The management has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of these amendments.
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6. 1 I and commission i and and other ting |

Interest income
Interast expenses
Customer assessmaent services

using

7. Personnel expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible asset and administrative expenses

Payroll expenses

Wages and salaries (for employ gistered in Lithuania and Latvia)
Wages and salaries (for employ gistered in other countrias)

Social rity contributions (for employ gistered in Lithuania and Latvia)
Social rity contributions (for employ gistered in other jes)
\acation accruals

Total wages and salaries

Depreclation of property, plant and equif t and amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equif it

Amortization of intangible assets

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipments (-)

Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of Intangible assets

Administrative expenses
Non-deductible VAT

IT equipment rental for workplaces
Software maintenance

Legal services

Administrative expenses related to ltalian branch
Cost of external data systems used
Deposit insurance

Bank charges

Insurance expenses

Accounting expenses

Contract services

Utilities

Asset and equipment rental
Business trips

Audit expenses

Membership fee for bank association
Representational expenses
Recruitment expenses

Tel ication exp
Advertisement expenses

Training, conference costs

Vehicle maintenance and fuel costs

Support costs

Equipment acquisition costs

A ing software mai

Internal g procedure costs
Prevention of money laundering services
Office maintenance

Public relations

Other expenses

Total administrative expenses

2022 2021
EUR EUR
11 853 621 5996 137
(3091 111) {651 522)
4 250 7 050
207 304 76 381
B 974 064
2022 2021
EUR EUR
145 228 27 063
(43 858 {21 842
101 fﬁl 5 22'1)“
2022 2021
EUR EUR
3733616 2935 603
1027 298 -
120 166 107 228
233774 -
174 232 101 598
5 289 086 3144 429
2022 2021
EUR EUR
68789 23451
397 327 136 427
160 480 104 164
18 785 -
645 362 — 264042
2022 2021
EUR
610 314 112252
524 364 -
352817 137 313
305099 138 346
210347 -
163 085 50703
157 385 22003
139 300 84 506
134 061 a3 875
117 641 118 379
B2 475 56 233
75290 35459
70 451 232763
63779 12 861
62525 41255
50 009 41450
50 807 40 532
48 807 102471
43 930 11 810
43888 31789
24 387 31618
24185 19073
21200 128 271
20 000 5300
16 123 2905
18 467 6880
9615 10573
5700 23980
4474 7 062
. 34729
389 262 150 409
3 1784 901
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8. Taxes
The Group had no current income tax charge for 2022 and 2021.

Reconciliation between tax loss and financial loss for the year ended 31 December is, as follows:

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
2022 2021
T RIS e T e
Profit (loss) before tax {3 835 163) (476 186)
Income tax calculated using the statutory tax rate applicable for the Bank in Lithuania 15% {575 274) (71 428)
Income tax calculated using the statutory tax rate applicable for parent companies 0% (76 845) 55 302
Tax effect of:
Non-deductible expenses 506 536 4 355
Non-taxable income 5736 (1431
Total current year Income tax expenses ( (13
Adjustment to i tax of the previous year -
I tax exp reported in the stat t of profit or loss (151 319) _(13_&
Deferred tax assets and liabilities:
2022 2021
EUR EUR
Increase {(decrease) in deferred tax assets from tax loss 527 981 376 269
Total deferred tax assat 527 981 376 23'9“
Calculation of income tax is based on requi ts of the Lithuani gulatory legislation on taxation. As of 31 December 2022, the standard income tax rate in Lithuania was 15%. As

at 31 December 2022, the Group recognised 100% deferred tax assets for tax losses and temporary difference related to provision. The recognition is based on the Management's
assumption that according to a three-year plan, the entire amount of deferred tax will be utilised in the next year.

9. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture Office equipment  Other equipment ARVAnCS pRyTINtE Total assets
EUR EUR EUR EUR = BT

Initial cost:
Balance as at 1 January 2021 87 348 - 2299 - B9 647
Increase over the year 5952 44 062 46 862 12 587 108 483
Balance as at 31 December 2021 93 300 44 062 49 161 12 587 189 110
Increase over the year 41 540 223644 9630 274 814
Wiritten off to depreciation expense (29 615) - . - (29 615)
Reclassification - (44 062) - (12 587) (56 649)
Impairment of property, plant and equipments {-) - - (18 785) (18 785)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 105 225 223 644 40 006 - 368 B75
Balance as at 1 January 2021 (9518) - - - (9 518)
Depreclation charge for the year (15 030) - (8.421) - (23 451)
Reclassification - - 1605 - 1605
Bal as at 31 D ber 2021 (24 548) - (6 816) - {31 364)
Depreciation charge for the year (22 378) (15 657) (10 608) - (48 643)
Depreciation charge for on-balance sheet assets acquired {1 080) - - - (1 080)
Reclassification (1605) (1 605)
Written off to depreciation expense 9 469 - - - 9 469
Balance as at 31 December 2022 (38 537) (15 657) (19 029) - (73 223)
Net book value as at 1 January 2021 77 830 - 2299 - 80 129
Net book value as at 31 December 2021 68 752 44 062 42 345 12 587 167 746
Net book value as at 31 December 2022 66 680 207 967 20976 == 295 652
There was no impairment of property, plant and equip asat31D ber 2022 and 2021.

There were no property, plant and equipment pledged as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
There are no fully depreciated property, plant and equipment, which are still in uge as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.




PayRay Bank, UAB
Company code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania

Consolidated notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022

10. Intangible assets

Initial cost:

Balance as at 1 January 2021
Additions

Bal as at31 D ber 2021
Additions

Written off to amortisation expense
Reclassification

In progress

Balance as at 31 December 2022

Accumulated amortisation:

Balance as at 1 January 2021

Amortisation charge for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2021

Amortisation charge for the year

Written off to amorlisation expense

Amortisation charge for on-balance sheet assats acquired
Balance as at 31 December 2022

Net book value as at 1 January 2021
Net book value as at 31 December 2021
Net book value as at 31 December 2022

11. Right-of-use assets
The Group has valid office premi: hicles lease ag
Right-of-use assets

Balance as at 1 January 2021

Increase over the year

Depreciation charge for the year

Bal as at 31 D ber 2021
Increase over the year

Depreciation charge for the year

Change due to contract termination

Net book value as at 31 December 2022

Lease liablllties

As at 01 January 2021

Increase over the year

Payments

Change In right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2021

Increase over the year

Payments

Change in right-of-use assets
Change due to contract termination
As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December, interest expense on lease liabilities were as follows:

Lease of office premises
Vehicle lease interast expenses
Total lease liability Interest expenses

Comput __ Total Intangible
software L assets
EUR EUR EUR
526 890 526 890
197 262 53 187 250 449
724 152 53 187 777 339
1007 302 - 1 007 302
(63 448) . (63 448)
44 062 (53 187) (9 125)
672 552 = 672 552
2 384 620 - 2384 620
(610) - (610}
(136 427) - (136 427)
(137 037) - (137 037)
(351 823) - (351 823)
17 939 - 17939
(324 415) (324 415)
(795 335) - (795 335)
526 890 - 526 890
587 115 53 187 540 302
7589 285 = 1589285
Office premises Vehicles Total
—'L‘UE‘E EUR _____ EUR
60176 49703 109 879
289 662 50713 340 376
(85 542) {23 585) (108 127)
264 76831 341127
188 661 37535 226 196
(117 268) (36 443) (165 711)
(102 952) - (102 952)
232 137 _ 75923 308 660 _
Office premises Vi Total
EUR EUR ______ EUR
80 951 51835 132 786
289 662 50713 340 375
(115034) {18 616) (133 650)
- (4 963) (4 963)
255 579 78 334 548
—— - =
188 661 37 535 226 196
(126 665) (32 576) (158 241)
10994 (6 226) 4768
(94 926) o (94 926)
233 643 77702 311345
2022 2021
EUR EUR
(10 636) (4 142)
1649’ 1747
2 —
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Company code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Vilnius, Lithuania

Consolidated notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022

11. Right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 December the future minimum lease payments under op

Within 1 year
From 1 1o 5 years

Maturity analysis. C I di ted cash flows
Within 1 year

From 1 to 5 years

Total discounted lease liabilities as at 31 December 2022

12. Loans to customers

Loans granted to customers
Accrued interest on loan

Loss allowance for loans granted (-)
Lease receivables

Accrued interest on lease

Loss allowance for lease (-)

Total

Loan origination fees

Total of loans granted to clients

13, Factoring receivables

ing leases were payable as follows:

Carrying amount of factoring {vabl prise receivabl

factoring ag ts. These are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 8,
Risslvabias Dndseh g g i
Loss all for factorii ivables (-)

Accrued interest income under factoring arrangements
Total factoring receivables

14. Other financial assets

Value of receivables (collateral)
Other recelvables

2022 2021
EUR EUR
163 840 132 786
147 506 201 762
311 345
2022 20030 -
EUR EUR
163 840 132786
147 505 201 762
311 345 334 548
2022 2021
EUR EUR
135 153 551 83303513
620 925 360 728
(1 451 862) (857 117)
19 354 127 836 189
97 925 3209

120 795]
153 653 871

__
— i

&

1 1

under different factoring agreements. The Bank has three types of factoring agreements: recourse, limited recourse and

2022 2021
EUR EUR
33 930 651 40 519 469
(78 513) (164 723)
%6975 41973
33 898 113 40 396 719
2022 2021
EUR EUR
40035 24 450
175 300 24 385
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for the year ended 31 D ber 2022
15, Securities Issuad by governments and other assets
Securities Issued by governments: 2022 2021
EUR EUR
Securities issued by governments 22733488 -
Accrued interest on securities issued by governmenis 103 516 -
Loss allowance for securilies issued by governments {46 751) -
Total securitles issued by governments: 2, -
iSIN Buy-out date Coupon rate Country Nominal valus
X51205778275 ;3!.@6‘25 1,38% Republic of Latvia 3060057 |
XS2168038417 2025-06-05 0.25% Republic of Lithuania 6880 217 |
XS2114767457 2025-10-02 0,00% Republic of Poland 47508 500 |
510002104246 13/02/2026 0,00% Republic of Siovenia 4883 000 |
LT0000630097 2025-04-08 1,30% Republic of Lithuania 3001714
Total; 22733 488
2022 2021
Other assets: EUR EUR
VAT receivable 13 154 20654
Receivable from accountable persons 5 665 1650
Other receivables 9764 -
Other accrued income 4434 -
Other deferred expenses* 80 800 27 896
Total other assets 113817 50 200
= i
16. Cash and cash equivalents 2022 2021
o s
Balances with the central bank 43724 245 48 437 977
Balances with commercial banks 5241124 6 656 745
3-month term deposit in commercial bank 20 000 000 =

Loss allowance for balances and term deposits in banks (-) éz 564 052) !4 102)
Total cash and cash equivalents 6 401 317

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are camied at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are held with commercial
banks that are rated at least Baa2 to Aaa based on Moody's Credit ratings. As at 31 December 2022, the Group recognised impairment of cash at bank in the amount of EUR 2,564,052
(2021: EUR 4,102).

17. Issued capital

The issued capital of PayRay Bank, UAB as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 consisted of 36,424,791 ordinary registered shares with the par value of EUR 1 each (EUR 36,424,791). Al
shares issued are fully paid. A share shall not be divided into parts. All shares issued by PayRay Bank, UAB are uncertificated ordinary registered shares.

The issued capital of PayRay, SIA as at 31 December 2021 consisted of 2,000,000 ordinary registered shares with the par value of EUR 1 each (EUR 2,000,000). In 2022, the issued
capital of PayRay, SIA was increased from 2,000,000 to 3,000,000 through Issue of 1,000,000 ordinary registered shares with the par value of EUR 1 each (EUR 1,000,000). The
issued capital of PayRay, SIA as at 31 December 2022 consisted of 3,000,000 ordinary registered shares with the par value of EUR 1 each (EUR 3,000,000). All shares issued are fully
paid. A share shall not be divided into parts. All shares issued by PayRay, SIA are uncertificated ordinary registered shares.

The Issued capital of PayRay Estonla, OU as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 consisted of 2,500 ordinary registered shares with the par value of EUR 1 each (EUR 2,500). All shares
issued are fully paid. A share shall not be divided into parts. All shares issued by PayRay Estonia, OU are uncertificated ordinary registered shares.

A legal reserve is a compulsory reserve under legislation of the Republic of Lithuania. An annual transfer of 5% of net profit is compulsory until the total of the reserve reaches 10% of

the share capital. As at 31 December 2022, the Group's accrued loss totalled EUR 6,098,077 and therefore no to the legal were made (in 2021: accrued loss tolled
EUR 2,651,035).
18, Customer deposits 2022 2021
EUR EUR

Deposits from natural persons (GER) 204 400 617 118401 719
I d on deposits from natural p (GER) 1747 058 372486
Deposits from legal persons 35 880 000 23 000 000
Interest d on deposits from legal p LT) 142 237 75 841
Total 242 279 911 141 850 046
Deferred issions on deposit (363 643) (289 504)
Total customer deposits 241 916 268 141560 542

age annual deposit i rate is set at 1.38% | verage is provided for all the deposits from natural persons that are the object of deposit insurance in accordance with

the requirements of legal acts and the amount of which does not exceed EUR 100 thousand.
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19. Payables and other liabilities

2022 2021
Payables: EUR EUR
Factoring payables 3100 020 3325422
Payables to Zemés Ukio Paskoly Garantijy Fondas 814 767 70 407
Other payables 653 827 3so a1
Security deposits recelved 611938 341 864
Employment-related Habilities 655 679 235613
Vacation accruals 323 218 444
Payable to the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Lithuania 256 872 -
VAT payable 193 958 45 200
Prepayments received 10 801 1495
Income tax payable 23 185
Total payables 6610 225 4628 442
2022 2021
Other liabilities: EUR EUR
Accrued expenses:
Commissions 131074 -
Customer management system 51 850 -
Consultations 48 530 70 000
Other expenses accrued 40 881 26 111
Lease termination fee 30 000 -
Audit of financial statements 34 500 14 050
P ¥ g " vices 13 441 38 500
Total other liabilitles 350 276 148 661
20.T th with related partl
During the year ended 31 December the following transactions occurred with related parties:
Entities of the same ultimate beneficisl owners
2022 2021
Purchase and sale of goods and services EUR EUR
Goods/services purchased 150 738 436 745
Total 150 739 436 745 _
The following bal are ling at the end of the reporting period in relation to ions with entities of the same ultimate beneficial owners.
2022 2021
Payables and Is (purct of goods and services) EUR EUR
Entities of the same ultimate beneficial owners = 128 302
Total = 1
2022 2021
Receivables and accruals {sale of goods and services) EUR EUR
Entities of the same ultimate beneficial owners 9764 £
Total U -
Key management personnel
There were no loans granted to the key management p | during the fil ial year.
Remuneration to the key personnel of the Bank There were 16 key managers in 2022 (2021: 15).
2022 2021
EUR EUR
R tion {incl. b ) 1478 267 1235 208
1478 267 1235 208
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21. Risk management {continued)

Diversification of credit portfolio as at 31 December 2022:

Yy sector

G. Wholesale and retail trade

L. Real estate transactions

C. Manufacturing

F. Construction

A. Agriculture, forestry and fisheries

H, Transport and storage

K. Financing and insurance activities

N. Administrative and support activities

D. Supply of electricity, gas, vapour and air conditicning
J. Information and communication

M. Professional, scientific and technical activiies
E. Water supply

R. Arts, entertal t and i

Q. Human health and social work activities

S. Other services

I. Accommodation and food service activities

P. Education

B. Mining and quarrying

21, Risk management (continued)

Diversification of credit portfolio as at 31 D ber 2022 (factoring

y sector

G. Wholesale and retail trade

H. Transport and storage

N. Administrative and support activities

C. Manufacturing

F. Construction

D. Supply of electricity, gas, vapour and air conditioning
M. Professional, scientific and technical activities

Diversification of credit portfolio as at 31 December 2021:

Industry sector

G. Wholesale and relail trade
L. Real estate transactions
H. Transport and slorage

C. Manufacturing
A. Agricul i y and fisheri
K. Fi ing and i Aiviti

D. Supply of electricity, gas, vapour and air conditioning
M. Professional, scientific and technical activities
N. Administrative and support activities

F. Construction

Q. Human health and social work activities

B. Mining and quarrying

J. Information and communication

|. Accommodation and food service aclivities

E. Water supply

R. Arts, entertai t and ti

P. Education

Outstanding at
nominal value, Ol:::nmdlnn.
EUR EUR
33027 21.49%
30034 19.55%
16 713 10,88%
16 433 10,69%
14023 9.13%
13086 8,52%
9436 6,14%
9409 6,12%
3798 247%
3734 243%
2010 1,31%
693 0,45%
362 0,24%
3z 0,20%
300 0,20%
129 0,08%
114 0,07%
40 0,03%
153 654 100!00%
) was as follows:
Outstanding at Outstanding,
nominal value, net (%)
EUR EUR
18 595 54,86%
58892 17,38%
4 285 12,64%
3 9,74%
1164 3.43%
438 1,28%
223 0,66%
33 898 100,00%
Outstanding at Outstanding,
nominal value, net (%)
20 747 24, 80%
13288 15.88%
10611 12,69%
9289 1.11%
9139 10,93%
7114 8,51%
4 628 5,53%
2954 3,53%
2580 3,10%
2224 2,65%
574 0,68%
127 0,15%
101 0,12%
95 0,11%
89 011%
38 0,05%
34 0,04%
83 642 100'00
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Divarsification of credit portfolio as at 31 D ber 2021 (f: ing ivablas) was as follows:
Outstanding at
nominal value, ~ CUtstanding,
Industry sector pipiepies et (%)
G. Wholesale and retail trade 22045 54, 57%
H. Transport and storage 9672 23,94%
N. Administrative and support activities 3528 8,73%
C. Manufacturing 3208 817%
F. Construction 1715 4,25%
M. Professional, scientific and tachnical activilies 136 0,34%
A, Agriculture, forestry and fisheries 2 0,00%
40397 100,00%
=
alrment | a
The Group has six types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
factoring and other ivables, which are subject to all types of factoring arrangements;
«l8ans granted;
+“lease arangements;
*bonds (held-to-maturity);
+Hposils in other banks;
+tash and cash equivalents.
Maximum credit risk exposure
The following table p ts the Bank's i credit risk exp before Idering any collataral held. The i P to credit risk equals the maximum amount that
‘would have to be paid upon customer request.
Outstanding
Maximum credlt  Gross outstanding Outstanding joan Maximum credit Gross outstanding loan
commitment under commitment
risk exposure in 2022 (EUR the loén agresimant risk exposure in 2021 (EUR underihedoai
In 2022 (EUR) thousand) in 2022 (EUR) In 2022 (EUR) thousand) spravmentin
2021 (EUR)
Balances with the central bank 43 740 845 43 740 845 - 48 535 654 48 535 654 -
Loans 143 273 576 135774 475 7499 101 104 873 782 83 664 241 21 309 541
Lease 20 566 363 19 452 053 1114 310 2403 490 836 518 1566 972
Factoring 33 976 626 33 976 626 - 40 561 442 40 561 442 .
Stale bonds 22 837 003 22 B37 003 - - - -
5:::"" Aok sad s Wit Smmse) 22730374 22730 374 - 6 559 068 6559 068 5
Total: T WITHTET T IIB5IT316 FETIAT — 03033436 — 180156923~ ZZBI6513
In its lending activities, the Group aims to reduce its credit risk and eaq)scled credit losses. As a measure to mitigate this risk, customers provide the Group with various types of
llaterals: real estate, wheeled vehicles, equipment, | tari , promissory notes, j etc. The Group also makes good use of guarantees to lower
Group's exposure to credit risk. The guarantees are issued by the E pean Investment Fund, icijy | it verslo garantijos UAB (INVEGA), and Zemés Okio Paskoly Garantijy
Fondas UAB.

21, Risk management (continued)
Portfolio as at 31 December by the type of financlal asset:

Protected with Protected with
Net outstandi I or Net outstanding Insurance or
during 2022 (EUR} guarantee,* during 2021 (EUR)  guarantes,’
during 2022 during 2021
Factoring
with recourse 14 664 784 11504 243 11 480 353 562 183
withoul recourse 2773073 249 266 5751423 1853 653
with limited recourse 16 460 256 16 460 345 23 164 943 23164 943
reverse - - s -
Total factoring 33 898 113 28 213 854 40 396 719 25 580 779
Loans 134 322 613 105 931 026 82 807 124 43 612 505
Finance lease 19 331 258 17 014 414 834712 834 712
Total T ABT551084 — 157150204 124038555
= id jius, Euler Hermes or Coface - loan and trade credit i G providers: INVEGA, Zemés Ukio Paskoly Garantijy Fondas, the European

Investment Fund {EIF}. &LTUM
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Asat31D ber, loss was set for bles and loans granted as follows:
2022 2021
EUR EUR
Gross carrying ~ factori ivabl 33 976 626 40 561 442
Gross carrying amount — loans 135 774 475 83 664 241
Gross carrying amount — finance lease 19 452 053 836 518
Gross outstanding debt nominal 189 203 154 125 062 201
Loss —fi g {78 513) {164 723)
Loss allowance — loans granted (1 451 862) (857 117)
Loss allowance — finance lease (120 795) (1 806)
Total loss allowance {1651 170) {1023 646)
Total outstanding debt nominal 187 551 984 124 038 555
As at 31 Decamber 2022, ECLs for factoring and other ivables were set by risk level as follows:
Gross Net
Risk grade outstanding, E"::::'ld:::;“ outstanding,
EUR l EUR
Al 64 110 (39) 64 071
Low risk customers A2 2736 341 (2457) 2733884
A3 12 348 790 (6 715) 12342 075
Total 15149 241 (9 211) 15 140 030
B1 21718900 {19 999) 21699 901
Medium risk customers B2 42 §29 355 (57 786) 42 771 569
B3 46 828 462 (140 603) 46 687 859
Total 111377 7117 % 111 159 329
[+ 51285 { ) 15060850
Increased risk customers c2 5939 593 {50 639) 5888 954
c3 32 763 609 (367 166) 32396 443
Tot! 53 831 732 (485 4&! 53 346 24
D1 5 289 063 {91 530) 5197 533
High risk customers D2 946 568 {42 532) 904 036
D3 67 898 4 523 63 375
Total 6 303 529 (138 585] G 164 944
E1 - - -
C with default indicati E2 - - -
E3 2 540 935 (799 501) 1741434
Total 2 540 935 793 501 1741434
Toul 189203154 1651 170)
As at 31 December 2021, ECLs for factoring and other ivables were set by risk leval as follows:
Gross Net
Risk grade outstanding, E’::f:': St outstanding,
EUR EUR
Al - - -
Low rigk customers A2 191 832 (227) 191 605
A3 293 737 (1615 202 122
Total 485569 _ 1 483727
B1 502 185 (10 013) 492 172
Medium risk customers B2 12517 126 (26 810) 12490 316
B3 31479 156 125 103 31 354 053
Total 52 498 467 161 926] 52 336 541
Gl 51 656 613 273 922) 51 382 691
Increased risk customers c2 4115153 (27 024) 4088 129
c3 11 835 955 3 870 11 612 085
Total 67 607 721 (524 816) 67 082 905
D1 1885 446 (44 486) 1840 960
High risk customers Dz % = -
D3 - - -
Total 1 B85 446 (44 4l»§} 1 840 960
E1 - - -
C with default indicati E2 - - -
E3 584 998 {290 576) 294 422
Total 584 998 {290 576 204 422
Total 125 062 201 [ ﬁ_ﬂi’]_ 124 038 555
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21, Risk management (continued)

Off-balance sheet liabilitles

The Group's jard ing and loan agr ts may be at any time and without prior notice unconditicnally terminated. A dingly, expected credit losses are not calculated on
unused limit. Only lease and property develop loan agr require the Group to provide financing; therefore, these agreements are subject to the ECL estimation for
undrawn loan commitmants,
As at 31 December 2022, expected credit losses for ofi-balance sheet commitments were sel by cuslomers risk level as follows:
Gross off- Net off-balance
bal: sheet Exp 1 credit sheot
Kk grads commitments, losses, EUR commitments,
o SRUR b
Al 28 735 588 - 28 735 588
Low risk customers A2 3149 340 - 3149 340
A3 14 502 666 . 14 902 666
Total 46 787 594 - 46 787 594
B1 4 575 200 - 4 575 200
Medium risk customers B2 11 368 021 (571) 11 368 450
B3 11 420 046 (397) 11410649
Total 27 364 267 (968) 27 363 299
c1 8 706 951 (1417) 8705534
Increased risk customers c2 2952 489 (5 241) 2947 248
c3 3555421 {10 561) 3544 860
Total 15214861 (17 219) 15157 642
5]} 222 661 (39) 222622
High risk customers D2 - - -
D3 118 598 - 118 589
Total 341 260 (39) 341 21
E1 - - 5
C with default indicati E2 - - -
E3 1284 448 - 1284 448
Total 1284 448 - 1284 448
Total 90 992 430 {18.226) 90 974 204_
As at 31 December 2021, expected credit [osses for off-balance sheet ts were set by cust risk level as follows:
Gross off- Net off-balance
bal sheet Expected credit sheet
Riskigrade commitments, losses, EUR commitments,
EUR — EUR
Al - = =
Low risk customers A2 208 168 - 208 168
A3 3 163 162 - 3163 162
Total 3 371 330 - 3 371 330
B1 7 574 531 - 7 574 531
Medium risk customers B2 11 525 597 (61) 11525 536
B3 16 198 146 (381) 16 197 765
Total 35298 274 (442) 35 297 832
c1 27 614 492 (54 802) 27 559 690
Increased risk customers c2 5191 897 (8 632) 5183 265
c3 8 285 B30 (38 235) 8 247 595
Total 41092219 {101 669) 40 950 550
D1 7 203 937 (35 293) 2168 644
High risk customers D2 - - -
D3 = < =
Total 2203 937 (35 293) 2168 644_
E1 - - -
Cust with default indicati E2 - - -
E3 638 - 638 503
Total 638 503 - 638 503
Total 82 604 263 (137 404) 82 466 850
Carrying amount of portfolio at the end of 2022 and 2021 by stages:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
2022-12-31 2021-12-31 2022-12-31 2021-12-31 2022-12-31 2021-12-31
Factoring 33 801 642 40 549 499 38 187 - 58 284 22388
Loans 127 300 140 81563 456 5 487 242 796 466 1535 231 272033
Finance lease 17 713 502 834 712 1469 837 - 147 919 -
Total T e Es 2 TZZ 9T EE7 G995 266 TG 466 TIaT a3 AL
Expected credit loss
When calculating expected credil losses, the clients’ PDs are adjusted based on the GDP and ployment rate f p ted by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Lithuania. In Latvia, the clients’ PDs are adjusted based on the GDP and loyment rate f 15 p ted by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Latvia.

The probability of default is adjusted by considering 12-month projections for customers in Stage 1 and three-year projections for customers in Stage 2 based on the contract maturity
(one of two ways to adjust the likelihood of bankruptcy of customers in Stage 2).
There were no any debts writtan off in 2022,
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21. Risk management (continued)

The t of loss aff in 2022 is summarised by stages as follows:
E;?:: ::LG::“ Change in Expacted credit
beginning of expactad credit losses at the
2tos Bl losses, EUR end of 2022,
‘hw'“ b thousand EUR thousand
Provisions for on-bal: sheet fi ial assets:

Cash and balances at banks

Stage 1 4 66 70

Stage 2 - - -

Stage 3 - 2434 2494

Bonds

Stage 1 g a7 47

Provisions for on-bal: shest fi ial assets:

Stage 1 728 (50) 678

Stage 2 7 165 172

Stage 3 288 512 800
Total: 1028 3234 4262

Provisions for fi | Habilities granted.

Stage 1 137 (119 18
Total provisions: T165 37 q280
Breakdown of loans in Stage 3 by type of collsteral at the end of 2022:

Gross
outstanding,
EUR
Real estate 288 870
Motor and wheeled vehicles 420277
National and sup jonal g 987 213
Without collateral 844 575
Total: 2 540 935

Breakdown of exposures in Stage 3 by type of financing at the end of 2022

Gross outstanding, Expected credit  Net outstanding, Fair value of

EUR losses, EUR EUR collateral, EUR
Factoring a7 612 (3% 249) 58 363 27719
Loans 2276039 (740 924) 1535115 1474 982
Lease 167 284 {19 328) 147 956 142 479
Total 2 540 935 (799 501) 1741434 1645 180
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk’ is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in ting cbligati iated with its fi jal liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. Liquidity risk arises from mismatches in the timing and amounts of cash flows, which is inherent to the Group's operations and |
Liquidity risk management
The Group sets the strategy for managing liquidity risk. The top Management approves the Group's liquidity policies and proced Chief Financial Officer the Group's
liquidity position on a day-to-day basis.
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The key el ts of the Group's liquidity strategy are as follows:
-maintaining a diversified financing base, including collection of term deposits (short and long-term) and equity;
- maintaining an asset portfolio diversified by ity: short-term working capital fi ing (up to 12 months), medium-term warking capital fi ing (up to 36 ths), and loans

and lease with a longer maturities (up to 10 years);

- 9 y of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities, and the extent to which the Group's assels are encumbered an
so not available as potential collateral for obtaining financing;

-tiress testing of the Group's liquidity position against various exposures and specific events;

- Assetliability commitiee (ALCO) established by the Group regularly is ible for i g liquidity targets, maturities and prudential indicators. The ALCO Committee
decides on financing plans for the Group to meet its perf: bjectives in tarms of i ing costs, and other liquidity-relatad elements.




PayRay Bank, UAB
Company code: 304862948, Lvivo st. 25-702, Viinlus, Lithuania

Consolidated notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 31 December 2022
21, Risk managemeant (continued)

The table below p ining maturities for the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities:

As at 31 December 2022, Gross nominal More than 1

EUR Note Carrying amount inflow lfoutflow) 0-3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months years

Financial liabilities by type

Non-derivative financia| liabilities

Customer deposits 242 279 9 242 279 911 43 488 162 19 414 149 98 877 720 80499 879

Lease liabilities 311345 311345 38 508 42 024 82 306 147 506

242501 256 _ 242 591 256 43 527 671 19456 173 08960026 BOGA7 385

Financial assets by type

Non-derivative financial asset

Factoring receivables 33898 113 33 938 651 1035 109 B 457 911 B 172 140 16 274 491

Loans to customers 134 322 613 135 153 551 7 687 036 1598 442 20577 913 105 290 160

Finance lease 19 331 258 19 354 127 - - 25 927 19 328 200

State bonds 22 790 253 22 790 253 - - - 22 790 253

Demand deposits in banks 20 000 000 20 000 000 20 000 000 - - -

Other financial assets 215335 215335 215 335 - - -
230 557 572 231 384 294 28 927 747_ 70 108 006 28 785 098 163 563 443

As at 31 December 2021, Gross nominal More than 1

EUR Note Carrying amount inflow fioutflow) 0-3 months 3-6 months 6-12 months

Financial liabiities by type

Nan-derivative financial liabilities

Customer deposits 141 850 047 143 093 732 14 528 140 17 014 157 - 111 551 436

Lease liabilities 334 548 345 927 40 227 39818 79 381 186 501
147 131999 _ 748 387 064 19 515 771 17 053 975 79381 111 797937

Financial assets by type

n-deri ]

Factoring receivables 40 386 719 40 519 468 10 016 226 B 337 279 26 617 22 139 347

Loans to customers 82807 124 83 303 513 908 234 3666 517 341 706 78 387 056

Finance lease 834 712 836 189 - - 195 127 641 062

Other financial assets 48 835 48 835 48 835 - = -
124 087 390 133509 178 11782 028 12 877 300_ 600295 108 249 565

Operational risk

Operalional risk is defined as the risk that could potentially cause losses due to hl.mm errors, Insdsqi.laie or faulty internal p system fail or ¢ ct avsnts The Group

divides operational risk and its g t into the following areas: money laundering and i g risk, process rist tion and ion technology risk, legal

and pl risk, external risk and p | risk. External fraud is p iall the biggest oparational threei for the Grnup There may be some fraud risks involved and some

clients may try to fraudulent activity against the Group.

Risks {not audited) Material/Not Material (not audited)

Operational risk Material

Money laundering risk (ML) Material

Operational and ML risk management

The Group’s objective Is to ge ¢ i risk so as to bal the avoid of fi ial losses and damage 1o the Group's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and

innavation, In all cases, the Group's p{:nlil:yI requires compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements,

Chiel' Risk Officer Is responsible for the management of operational risk. He also responsible for itoring operational risk controls. This responsibility Is supported by the

p of overall Company standards for the g t of operati 'risklnt?le'“ ing areas:
i for approp! g tion of duties, Including the Independ i of i

-req.uremenn for the reconciliation and monitoring of umsacums.
~compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
-documentation of controls and procedures;

qui for the periodi of op nal risk, adequacy of and related procedures theraof;

qui for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
tralning and professional devek
-sthical and business sundards.
-information technology and cyber risks;
-risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective.
Compliance with the Group's standards is supparied by a prog of peried iews by Internal Audit. The results of ) | Audit reviews are di d with the Management of
the Group.
The Group has processes in plal:e to mitigate the risks described abave by: ing the d I bafore fi ing, verifying the P with ts, and, for
the pur of f g ying the invoices submitted and supporting documents in compliance Mlh the Group’s p d An for the purp of ing, g the
ppropri of the 'S COMp with cbligations towards the Group {Is not past due, perfi ather | obligati et.).
Managing the Group's risks relating to money laundering and fi g is an integral part of its overall risk rnamagement system. The process Iudﬁr is AML Compliance
Officer. He is responsible for the day to day imp!ernenlxlion of the Group's Anli-hhney Laundering and Counter-Termorist Fi g Policy and | ti j Pohcy. as well
as sy and Is which support and facilitate them. Considering the scope and nature of its busi the Group Impl money laundering and ist fi g risk
identification, and g P d as well as effective tools to mitigate such risks.
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22, Fair value

The carrying values of the Group's principal fi fal i trade and other payables, long-term and shori-term borrowings, approximates their fair values. The following table
shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The carrying amount of financial liabilities not
d at fair value app their falr value.
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
EUR EUR EUR
Financial assets
Cash on hand and balances with central banks 66 401 317 66401 317 55 080 620 55 090 620
Loans to customers 134 322 613 134 322 613 82807 123 82 807 123
Factoring receivables 33 898 113 33898 113 40 396 719 40 396 718
Finance lease 18 331 258 18 331 258 834 712 834 712
Other financial assels 215335 215335 48 835 48 835
State bonds 22 790 253 22790 253 . -
Financial liabilities
Customer deposits 242 279 91 242279 911 141 850 046 141 850 046
Other financial liabilities 6 610 225 6610 225 4628 442 4 628 442
Quantitative disclosures of the Group's financial assets and liabilities in the fair value t hierarchy as at 31 D ber 2022:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EUR EUR EUR EUR
Financial assets
Cash on hand and balances with central banks 66 401 317 - 66 401 317
Loans to customers - 134 322 613 - 134 322 613
Factoring receivables - 33898 113 - 33898 113
Finance lease - 19 331 258 - 19 331 258
Other financlal assets - 215335 - 215335
State bonds . 22790 253 - 22790 253

Financial liabilities

Customer deposits - 242279 911 - 242279 91
Payables - 6610 225 - 6610225
Other liabllities - 350 276 - 350 276
Quantitative disclosures of the Group's financial assels and liabilities in the fair value t hi hy as at 31 D ber 2021:

Lovel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR EUR EUR EUR
Financial assets
Cash on hand and balances with central banks 55 090 620 - 55 080 620
Lmns to customers - 82 807 123 - 82 807 123
Factoring and other ivabl - 40 386 719 - 40 396 719
Finance lease - 834 712 - 834 712
Other financial assels - 48 835 - 48 835
Financial liabllities
Customer deposits - 141 850 046 - 141 850 046
Payables - 4628 442 - 4 628 442
Other liabilities - 148 661 - 148 661
23. Restat t of parative inf At
The Group reviewed the methodology for classifying items in the sef fi | and decided to reflect more accurately the classification of the items in the financial
statements, by making corresponding sdnsmnts to the comparative information fot2021
The adjustment impact on the Group's statement of profit and loss and other compret in the stat t of fi {al position and the statement of cash flows is presented
below:
2021 (befors Hastatsmani 2021 (after
—restatement)
EUR EUR

Interest | Iculated using effective interest method 6013 662 (17 525) 5996 137
Interest on late payments 9537 (8 537)
Interest expenses (504 030) (147 492) (851 522[
Net interest Income (expensa) 5519 169 (174 554) 5 344 615
Commission expenses - 27 063 27 063
Commission lnoome - (21 842) (21842)
Nat issl (exp ) . 521
Other operating income 83431 - 83431
Credit loss allowance - (710 192) (710 192)
Loss all for doubtful receivabi (708 230) 708 230 -
Loss allowance for cash at banks {1962} 1962 -
Payroll expenses (3 144 429) . (3 144 429)
Depreciation of property, plant and equi t and ization of intangible assets - (264 042) (264 042)
Administrative expenses (2218 276) 433375 (1784 801)
Finance costs 5 889 - 5 889
Profit (loss) before tax 476 18 - 476 18!
Income tax expense 13 202 - 13 202
Profit (loss) for the year {462 984) F ;@
Other comprehensive income = & =
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 3 _(462 984 = !452 nu!
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2. R of ¥ Ive Inf i
s (i ial posil
2021 (before i 2021 (after
restatement) Rasta . restatement}
Assets EUR EUR
Cash on hand and balances with central banks 55 090 620 - 55 090 620
Loans to and f ing ivabh - 123 868 254 123 868 254
Loans to customers B3 641 836 (83 641 836) -
Factoring receivables 40 396 719 (40 396 719) -
Intangible assets - 640 302 640 302
Intangible assets 640 302 (640 302) -
Property, plant and equipment - 167 746 167 746
Property, plant and equipment 167 746 {167 746)
Right-of-use assels 341127 - 341127
Deferred tax asset 376 269 (376 269) -
Deferred tax asset 376 269 376 269
Other financlal assets 48 835 - 48 835
Other non-financial assets 22 304 (22 304) -
Other assets 317 400 {267 198) 50 201
Total assets: 181 043 158 {459 804) =|Iél583é
Liabliities
Customer deposits 141 850 046 {289 503) 141 560 543
Lease liabilities - 334 548 334 548
(Finance) lease or related liabilities 334 548 {334 548) -
Payables 4 607 869 20573 4 628 442
Loss allowance - 137 404 137 404
Pravisions 137 404 {137 404) -
Other liabilities 339 535 (190 874) 148 661
Total Habllities: 147260402 (459 804) __ 146 809 596 _
Equity
Issued capital 36 424 791 - 36 424 791
Retained eamings (2 651 035) - (2 651 035)
Total equity: 33 773 756 - 33773 756
Total equity and liabllities: 181 043 158 (459 804) 180 583 354
23. Restatement of parative inf tion (continued)
Statement of cash flows
2021 (before Restatement 2021 (after
EUR EUR
Profit (loss) for the year {462 984) - (462 984)
Operating activities
Credit loss allowance - 710182 710 192
Interest income - (5996 137) (5896 137)
Interest expenses - 651 522 651 522
Depreciation of property, plant and I tand ization of intangible assets - 269 005 269 005
Impairment of investments in shares of subsidiaries - - -
Change in deferred tax - (13512) (13512)
Other non-cash transactions elimination - 92 448 82449
Depraciation and amortisation of non-current assets 158 273 (158 273) -
Depraciation of right-of-use assets 104 164 (104 164) -
Imp R ivables, nel 45 374 (45 374) .
Impairment of loans, net 525 452 (525 452) -
Impairment of balances at banks, net 1962 (1962) -
Impai of off-bal sheet net 137 404 {137 404) 3
Adjustments to non-cash items 5891 (5 891) -
Income tax expense 310 (310) -
Net interest income (5519 169) 5519 169 -
Total adjustments to operating activities (5 003 323) 716 842 4 286 481
Working capital adjustments
Net change in loans granted {69 069 076) (18 054 780) (87 123 856)
Changes in other financial assets - (18 426) (18 426)
Net changes in other assets - (324 250) (324 250)
Changes in cust deposi 135 782 645 {447 006) 135 335 639
Change In payables - 1736 347 1736 347
Changes in other liabilities 2122539 (1830 757) 291 782
D (i ) in deferred income tax asset (13512) 13 512 -
{l 3 in fi g 1 (18 376 438) 18 376 428 -
(Increase) decrease in other current assets (342 676) 342 676 -
Total changes In assets and liabllities of operating activities 50 103 481 (206 246) 49 897 236
Interest received 0 5674 478 5674478
Interest paid 0 -204 616 -204 516
Interest on late payments 9537 -8 537 0
Income tax paid =310 310 0
Net cash flows from operating activities w‘ (1 285) 50 617 733
Investing activitles
Acquisition of securities issued by governments a W ‘
Acquisition of intangible assets (109 483) (341 981) {451 444)
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Acquisition of intangible assets 250 449 o 250 449
Net cash flows used In Investing activitles Badib EEL_EIE (341 981) 01 893
Financing activities
Lease payments 139 540 341 302 201 762
Net cash flows from/used in financing activities 39 540 341 302 201 762
Increase (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 50 119 564 (1962) 50 117 602
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/period 4 975 158 (2 140) 4973018
Cash and cash equl asat31 D k 55094 722 {4 102)
24, Notes
Contingent liabilities
There are no any legal proceeding to which the Group is a subject.
Business acquisition
Optima Information Technology St is a fi ial soff develop pany based in Pistoja, Italy, developing and providing individual softy ordering sclutions to the Group
since 2018. The acquired busi will th be a key asset for the Group, playing a strategic role in digitizing and improving the Group's processes, providing access to a scope-
tomized sofh for int ional expansion, as well as access to an in-house software development team, The acquired busi includ with 13 specialized
amployees.
The business was acquired for EUR 1,00. The acquisition does not fall within the scope of IFRS 3 Business combinations, and It has been accounted for at book values with balance
sheet difference recognized in the Group's equity as a negative reserve, gto practice for business combinations under control.
Busi quisition is p d in the of fi jal position.
2022-03-31
Property, plant and equipment 12 009
Intangible assets 448 572
Receivables 109 320
[Total disposed assets 569 501
2022-03-31

Employee benefits 91 851
Trade payables and other current liabilities 597 662

otal disposed liabilities, related to disposed assets 689513
Loss from busi Juisiti 119612

otal loss from business acquisition 119612
Significant events afle

The ongoing Russia's war in Ukraine and inflationary pressures continue to weigh on the global economic situation, resulting In slower economic activity, Global growth is projected to
decelerate sharply in 2023, especially in the euro area. The latest economic data for Germany and Lithuania revealed that the gross domestic product of both countries decreased by
0.4% and 0.5% during Q4 2022,

In order to fight high Inflation, the European Central Bank has Initlated monetary policy tightening, By the end of 2022, the European Central Bank's rate of main refinancing
I ions was 2.5% pared to 0.0% at the start of the year), and it was increased to 3.0% on 8 February 2023. Mareaver, the European Central Bank indicated that the key
Interest rates will be increased by additional 50 basis points, and does not rule out the possibility of further increasing them In the near future.

The sudden Increase of Euribor rates driven by the European Central Bank's monetary policy had a positive Impact on the Group's financlal results in the first quarter of 2023,
Hawever, in the light of an uncertain econamic outiook, the Group closely monitors the economic situation and its loan partfolio performance. Taking into t the ab joned
| the Group conti ly revi and adapts its financing guidelines for new credit origination.

In January 2023 the Bank of Lithuania started a planned inspection of the Bank. The focus of the inspection is credit risk management, liquidity management, interest rate risk
t, and g of the Bank. The results of the inspection are expected to be issued by Q2-3 of 2023.

In March 2023 the Latvian State Revenue Service Initiated an inspection in areas of money laundering and fi ing pr ion on the Bank's subsidiary PayRay, SIA.

On 24 February 2022, after the Russian Federati gnized the independ of the self laimed Donetsk and Luhansk peaple’s republics and invaded Ukraine, the military
conflict escalated to other regions of the country. The significant changes in the geopolitical context that took place after February 2022 were take Into account when preparing
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, The said geopolitical changes do not have a significant impact on the financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2022, as they are insignificant to the activities of the Group.

As of the end of the fi ial year up to app of the fi ial stat ts, there were no post-balance sheet events that could have infl on the sep: ial stat
or be additionally disclosed,
= é >,
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